Sino Splendid Holdings Limited
PRHERRKRIERSRLD

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
MNEASHSEMM L ZFRARE)

GEM Stock BR3 K55 : 8006

ANNUAL
£ |




CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the
decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the
Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no
responsibility for the contents of this annual report, make no representation as to its accuracy or
completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in
reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this annual report.

This annual report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Sino Splendid Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in
compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The
Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief
the information contained in this annual report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not
misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement
herein or this annual report misleading.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
NEER

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
Unit 506, 5/F,

New World Tower 1, 18 Queen’s Road Central,

Central, Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

P.0. Box 309 Ugland House,

South Church Street,

George Town, Grand Cayman KY1-1104,
Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Maples Fund Services (Cayman] Limited
P.0. Box 1093, Boundary Hall,

Cricket Square, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1102, Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,

Hopewell Centre,

183 Queen’s Road East,

Wanchai,

Hong Kong

AUDITOR

Wilson & Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Suite 609, 6/F,

China Insurance Group Building,
141 Des Voeux Central,

Central, Hong Kong

(effective on 30 October 2024)

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

CMB Wing Lung Bank
45 Des Voeux Road Central,
Central, Hong Kong

STOCK CODE
8006

WEBSITE

www.sinosplendid.com
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
LR

FINANCIAL AND OPERATING RESULTS MR EXERE

HIGHLIGHTS
The following table sets forth certain financial information of
the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for

TRHEJNARFREMBE LR (AR
SEDRARFENE THHEEFR

the years indicated:

Operating results (HK$'000)

REXE(TET)

2024 2023
—EC-E —E-=%F
Revenue L 29,431 45,274
Loss for the year FREE 24,195 (49,071)
Financial position (HK$'000) BRI (T8 T)
2024 2023
—EC-NEF S
Equity attributable to owners of RARFERAEIEER
the Company 24,788 51,584
Total assets WEE 65,961 85,099
Net assets FEE 24,788 51,584
Financial statistics S BUE
2024 2023
—EC-NEF B4
Current ratio’ Nkl 1.48 2.37
Total debts to total assets ratio? BIETEE L 8 & E L &2 0.62 0.39
Return on total assets (%)° BEEDRR(%)P (36.68%) (57.66%)
Return on sales (%/* i O] FR & (%) (82.21%) (108.39%])
Loss per share - basic® BRREER - £EX° (16.40) (33.26)
Net assets value per share? BREEFES 0.17 0.35
PR ERIFIRIER AR AR —ZT PUFFIR 5



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
LR

Notes:

1.

6

Current ratio is calculated by dividing current assets by current
liabilities.
Total debts to total assets ratio is calculated by dividing the total

indebtedness by total assets.

Return on total assets is calculated by dividing the profit for the
year by total assets.

Return on sales is calculated by dividing the profit for the year by
revenue.

Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable
to owners of the Company for the year by weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Net assets value per share is calculated by dividing the net assets
by weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during
the year. Net assets represent total assets less total liabilities.

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited
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PEE SRR IRE

DIRECTOR'S STATEMENT

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors of the
Company, | hereby present the Group’s results for 2024 to our
shareholders.

Our performance for the year of 2024 fell short of expectations,
with revenue generated falling below budgeted figures. The
primary reason for this shortfall is that sales revenue has
yet to recover from the sharp downturn from COVID-19. Many
potential advertisers remain cautious regarding run-of-page
advertising and promotional spending. Despite the challenges,
revenue for the year of 2024 shows improvement compared
to the same period last year, in view of the uncertainties of
high inflation and the severe competition in the adhesive
related market, it is difficult for the Board to predict the sales
performance of the Group in 2025.

However, for the medium to long term outlook, as the demand
of Mainland China and Hong Kong for the financial magazine
and other media service is still growing continually, the Board
expects that the growth of the Group’s sales in the medium to
long term will remain stable.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to extend sincere
gratitude to all shareholders, customers, suppliers and
business partners for their continuing support, and also to
members of the Board, the management, and employees who
have been dedicating to the development of the Group, for their
invaluable contributions.

Mr. Yu Tat Chi
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 31 March 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWR T

RESULTS
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group are principally
engaged in (i) travel media operations with provision of

advertising services through the internet and travel magazines,
event organizing services and magazine publication ("Travel
Media Business”); (ii) provision of contents and advertising
services in multiple well known financial magazines distributed
in The People’s Republic of China ("PRC”) and provision of
advertising services through the internet and others media
channels (“Financial Magazine And Other Media Business”); (iii)
investment in securities ("Securities Investment”); (iv] money
lending (“Money Lending Business”); and (v] virtual reality
business [“Virtual Reality Business”).

The Group's total revenue decreased by HK$15.9 million or
35%, from HK$45.3 million last year to HK$29.4 million for the
year ended 31 December 2024 primarily due to the revenue
decrease from Financial Magazine and Other Media Business.

Gross profit of the Group was HK$5.4 million for the year ended
31 December 2024, representing a decrease of HK$4.4 million
or 45% as compared with HK$9.8 million in 2023. Gross profit
margin for the year reached approximately 18.3% (2023: 21.6%,
representing a decrease of 3.3% over the last year.

The Group recorded other income and other gains and losses
amount of Nil and Nil, respectively during the year, compared
with HK$0.06 million and HK$0.6 million in the corresponding
period of 2023, respectively.

The impairment approach in HKFRS 9 is based on expectations
as opposed to incurred losses under the predecessor
accounting standard. This means it is not necessary for a loss
event to occur before credit losses are recognised. Instead, a
loss allowance is recognised for expected credit losses and
is remeasured at each reporting date for changes in those
expected credit losses. HKFRS 9 is purposefully designed to be
forward looking and reflect expectations of future credit events
impacting loans and receivables on the statement of financial
position. It is important when determining what ‘forward
looking” information should be used as it must reflect the
forward-looking information that existed at the reporting date.

8 Sino Splendid Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

At the reporting date, the management expected all entities
to experience conditions often associated with a general
economic downturn, including, but not limited to, financial
market volatility and erosion, deteriorating credit, liquidity
concerns, further increases in government intervention,
increasing unemployment, broad declines in consumer
discretionary spending, increasing inventory levels, reductions
in production because of decreased demand, layoffs and other
restructuring activities. Contingent on the continuation of these
circumstances a potential broader economic downturn could
result with a prolonged negative impact on the Group's financial
results.

In determining the recoverability of the trade receivables, the
management had from time to time during the financial period,
communicated with the debtors about their financial condition.

Based on the Group’'s understanding from the foregoing
communication and the results of its review on their respective
financial information and after taking into account their
repayment history and certain forward-looking factors specific
to each of them, the Group recorded the impairment losses
under expected credit loss model, net of approximately
HK$20.4 million (2023: reversal of HK$11.7 million). The Group
made provision for impairment losses on accounts receivable
when the borrowers with overdue payments. The Directors
considered that the amount of the impairment losses was fair
and reasonable.

The selling and distribution costs decreased by HK$2.8 million
to HK$0.9 million during the year (2023: HK$3.7 million],
representing a decrease of 74.5% against the year of 2023. The
administrative expenses decreased by approximately HK$35.4
million to approximately HK$8.2 million during the year (2023:
HK$43.6 million], representing a decrease of 81.2% against the
year of 2023. Such decrease was mainly due to the decrease in
consultancy fees and other expenses.

As a result, the loss attributable to owners of the Company
was HK$24.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2024 as
compared with a loss of HK$49.1 million in 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWR T

BUSINESS REVIEW

Industry Review

In 2024, it is typically a slower year for the group. The
performance for the year of 2024 fell short of expectations, with
revenue generated falling below budgeted figures. The primary
reason for this shortfall is that sales revenue has yet to recover
from the sharp downturn from COVID-19. Many potential
advertisers remain cautious regarding run-of-page advertising
and promotional spending. Additionally, unfavourable exchange
rates resulting from the weakening of the US dollar have
impacted our bottom line. However, our gross profit margin
showed a improve of increasing to compare with the previous
year of 2023, although it still fell short of our projections.
Significantly, our overall bottom line has improved due to
effective cost management strategies implemented across the
organization and improvement of revenue. We will reinforce our
processes and explore industry best practices to mitigate risks,
which will be crucial as we try our effort to seek other channel
to enhance our finance magazine market in other eastern Asia
countries for the year of 2025.

Travel Media Business

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Travel Media
Business recorded a revenue of HK$0.5 million, decreased
by 79.2% or HK$1.9 million as compared with that of HK$2.4
million in 2023. This amount represented 1.7% of the Group’s
total revenue for the year under review.

The business recorded a segment loss of HK$0.13 million this
year, representing a decrease of HK$0.47 million with that a
segment loss of HK$0.6 million in last year.

Financial Magazine And Other Media Business

During the year, the Group engaged in provision of contents
and advertising services through travel and financial magazine,
internet and other media channels. The Group timely grasped
the opportunity in advertising on digital platform and other
media channels.

Revenue from this business was HK$29 million, which
contributed 98.5% of the Group’s total revenue for the year
under review. Segmental losses of this business during the year
amounted to HK$17.4 million.

Securities Investment

As at 31 December 2024, total market value for the held for
trading investments of the Group was approximately HK$11.6
million and recorded fair value losses of approximately HK$0.95
million. During the current year, the Group realised on financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss was Nil (2023: loss
HK$1 million].

10 Sino Splendid Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

MONEY LENDING BUSINESS

During the year, the Group conducts its money lending
business. The Group's clientele primarily consists of niche
customers including corporations and individuals. Most
of the clients were acquired through business referrals
and introductions from the Company’s directors, senior
management, business partners or clients. Besides in
compliance with all rules and regulations imposed under the
MLO, the Group has also formulated internal money lending
policy to guide the money lending operations. The loan terms
would be arrived at after considering a combination of factors
including prevalent market interest rates, the financial strength
of the borrower, the collaterals offered as past credit history
of the borrower with the Group and adjusted, if necessary, by
arms-length negotiations with the borrower.

Revenue from this business was HK$0.9 million, which
accounted for 3.0% of the Group's total revenue for the year. A
total principal amount and accrued interest of approximately
HK$9.5 million remain outstanding. The Group retained an
independent professional valuer to conduct impairment
assessment on the outstanding loans in view of the deteriorated
financial status of certain borrowers during the year. The Group
will closely monitor to the status of the receivables, keep
updated the status of the borrower and take relevant actions
including but not limited to communicate to the borrowers and
take reference to their explanation for the failure of repayment,
their updated financial status, their steps to correct their
problems and new schedule for repayment etc.

Business Model

In respect of the money lending business, the Group targeted on
variety of customers including individuals and corporations by
providing secured or unsecured loans. The source of customers
is mainly past customers or referrals by third parties. Loans
are mainly of unsecured loans by three individuals which had a
good standing on their background and income proof and they
were referred by the past customers with good standing on the
loan and interest repayment. The source of funds for the money
lending business is funded by the internal resources of the
Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWR T

Major Terms of Loans Granted

As at 31 December 2024, loan receivables with the aggregate
gross principal amount approximately of HK$11,000,000 and
HK$Nil interest receivables (2023: gross principal amount of
HK$11,000,000 and HK$Nil interest receivables) were due from
three (2023: three) independent third parties. The interest rates
of the loan receivables range from 8% to 10% per annum (2023:
8% to 10% per annum.) on the principals from HK$3,500,000
to HK$4,000,000 (2023: from HK$3,500,000 to HK$4,000,000).
Three (2023: three) of the loan receivables are unsecured,
of which the largest loan receivables of approximately
HK$4,000,000. Three of loan receivables were repayable in
2025.

Loan Impairments

The loan impairment was recognised due to the expected credit
losses. In 2024, the economic downturn will be continued due to
the continuation of the epidemic and the outbreak of new wave
of epidemic in the first quarter of 2023 which may affect the
repayment ability of the borrower, thus affecting the Group’s
expectation to each of the borrowers on their ability to repay
their debts. Therefore, when estimating the default rate of loan
receivables, the Group considered that the default rate of each
borrowers increased in 2023. Besides, the Group based on the
borrowers’ current financial status by communicating with
the borrowers, referring to their past and current repayment
records, loan terms, and the value of the collaterals, and will
make further additional independent adjustments, to calculate
the loan impairment for the year.

Internal Controls

The Group manages credit risk through review and credit
approval and post-transaction monitoring processes which are
performed by management. Before the loans were granted, an
independent credit risk assessment has been performed. The
independent credit risk assessment including but not limited
to the background check, income or asset proof of individual
customers and financial reports of corporate customers and
the verification of the authenticity of the information provided,
to ensure the recovery ability of the loan.

The Company has adopted the procedures on monitoring loan
repayment and recovery which involve (a) the borrowers is
required to report on the financial or business performance
periodically; (b) it is required to report to the Company for
any material defaulted loans immediately upon occurrence;
In respect of delinquent loans, the standard demand letters
will be issued. If no satisfactory response is received, formal
legal demand letters will be issued. Thereafter formal legal
proceedings may be issued where appropriate.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

VIRTUAL REALITY BUSINESS

Revenue from this business was Nil for the year, which
accounted for Nil of the Group’s total revenue for the year.
Accordingly, the Group’s virtual reality business is mainly
operated in the PRC. The PRC market did not grow to the
extent that the Company had hoped during the financial
year ended 31 December 2023. During the year of 2024, the
Group’s virtual reality business faced a very complex and
volatile environment both domestically and internationally. The
unfavorable and uncertain global macroeconomic environment
and the said business continues to face considerable dilemma
from mounting maintenance costs, shortage of skilled sewing
workers, slowing domestic demand as well as strong domestic
and international competitions.

As a result, the virtual reality business of the Group was
adversely affected for the financial year ended 31 December
2024. Following the year ended on 31 December 2023, the
Group did not carry out any operation in its virtual reality
business during the year and hence no revenue were made in
relation to the virtual reality business for the year ended 31
December 2024. Subsequent to 31 December 2024, Aolin Jingi
Kongjian (Shenzhen] Jishu Co., Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, has been deregistered in 8 February 2025.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there were no
investment exceed 5% on total assets of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

PROSPECT

The Group will continue to devote necessary resources to
further increase its market share if feasible. Leveraging on the
Group’s solid experience accumulated over the years, the Group
will continue to commit to its core business. The Group will
also consider to invest and develop its financial magazine and
other media service in a proactive manner in order to broaden
its revenue base. We are optimistic on the growth of the market
in Mainland China and Hong Kong as well as we are confident
in their economic development and its strength as a financial
centres, as evidenced by the positive GDP recorded over the
past years.

The Directors endeavor to seek more business opportunities
in the financial industry as well as other industries to diversify
the Group's existing business stream to enhance the long-term
benefits of the Company and the shareholders as a whole.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWR T

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity and financial resources

The Group generally financed its operations with its internally
generated cash flows. The Group's total equity was HK$24.8
million as at 31 December 2024, representing a decrease
of approximately HK$26.8 million as compared with that
of HK$51.6 million as at 31 December 2023. Total assets
amounted to HK$66.0 million as at 31 December 2024 (2023:
HK$85.1 million], of which HK$6.9 million (2023: HK$21.2
million) as bank balances and cash, financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, held for trading was HK$11.6
million (2023: HK$12.6 million).

Capital structure

As of 31 December 2024, the Group’s consolidated net assets
was HK$24.8 million, representing a decrease of approximately
HK$26.8 million as compared with that of HK$51.6 million in
2023.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company has 147,540,930 shares
of HK$0.04 each in issue. The value of share capital was
approximately HK$5.9 million as at 31 December 2024 (31
December 2023: approximately HK$5.9 million).

FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES
No fund raising activities was held during the year ended 31
December 2024.

Charges on the Group’s assets

There was no charges on the Group's assets as at 31 December
2024 and 2023.

Borrowings
The Group has no borrowings for financial institutions as at 31

December 2024 and 2023.

The gearing ratio (net debts divided by shareholders’ equity)
was Nil as at 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates and any
related hedges

The majority of the Group’s assets and liabilities and business
transactions were denominated in Renminbi and Hong Kong
dollars. During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
the Group had not entered into any hedging arrangements.
However, the management will continue to monitor closely its
foreign currency exposure and requirements and to arrange for
hedging facilities when necessary.

Contingent liabilities

The Group had no material contingent liability as at 31
December 2024 and 2023.

Employee information

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 22 (2023: 27)
employees. The Group's employees are remunerated largely
based on their performance and experience, alongside with
the current industry practices. The Group has introduced share
option scheme to recognize the contributions of the employees
to the growth of the Group. The scheme has been or will be
amended from time to time to take into account changes in
market conditions and the GEM Listing Rules. Remuneration
packages of employees include salaries, insurance, medical
cover, mandatory provident fund, discretionary bonuses and
share option (if any).
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENSHREEERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Wang Tao ("Mr. Wang”)

Mr. Wang, aged 67, was graduated from the Hebei University
with a bachelor’'s degree of Engineering in 1982. He has
accumulated more than 20 years of experience in investment
and construction management. Mr. Wang was the deputy
general managers of a private real estate development
company located in Beijing since 2004. Mr. Wang was appointed
as an Executive Director of the Company on 29 September 2015.

Yu Tat Chi (“Mr. Yu”)

Mr. Yu, aged 60, holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree from
the University of New South Wales, Australia. He is a fellow
member of the CPA Australia and a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Yu is also a
founding member of The Hong Kong Independent Non-Executive
Director Association. Mr. Yu has many years of experience in
accounting, corporate finance and asset management. He had
held senior management positions in listed companies in Hong
Kong. Mr. Yu is currently an independent non-executive director
of Golden Resources Development International Limited (a
company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 677);
Applied Development Holdings Limited (a company listed on the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 519); China Netcom Technology
Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 8071); Lerado Financial Group Company Limited
(a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1225];
Harbour Digital Asset Capital Limited (a company listed on
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 913) and WT Group Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code:
8422) respectively. Mr. Yu has been an independent non-
executive director of EVOC Intelligent Technology Company
Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code:
2308 and was delisted from the Stock Exchange on 28 October
2022) from May 2016 to May 2021. Mr. Yu was an independent
non-executive director of Novautek Technologies Group Limited
(formerly known as: Applied Development Holdings Limited)
(listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 519) from September
2016 to December 2024.

With effect from 1 February 2024, Mr. Yu was promoted as an
executive Director. Mr Yu is also the Company Secretary and the
Authorized Representative of the Company since 19 November
2021.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Lee Yim Wah (“Ms. Lee”)

Ms. Lee, aged 52, she has over 20 years of experience
in the trading industry and has rich knowledge in sales
and marketing. Ms. Lee was appointed as Independent
Non-Executive Director and a member of each of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee on 31 March 2016.

Chow Yee Ting (“"Ms. Chow")

Ms. Chow, aged 32, has over 4 years of experience in the
media, editorial and content management, and public relations
industries. Ms. Chow holds a directorship in a Hong Kong media
advertising company. She serves as senior management and
oversee the day-to-day operations. She is also responsible for
monitoring business performance and contents of the business.

Ms. Chow was appointed as Independent Non-Executive
Director and a member of each of the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee on 18
July 2023.

Yeung Man Sun (Former name: Yeung Hiu Chong and
Yeung Yiu Chong) ("Mr. Yeung”)

Mr. Yeung, aged 44, he is currently a senior management of a
Hong Kong listed company and runs his own certified public
accountant’s firm. He has 20 years of experience in auditing,
taxation, financial management and advisory services field
for an international accounting firm, several corporations and
other listed companies. Mr. Yeung holds a Bachelor's Degree
of Business Administration (Honours) in Accountancy from City
University of Hong Kong and a Master’s Degree in Corporate
Governance from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is
an associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, The Chartered Governance Institute and
The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute as well as a
member of the Society of Registered Financial Planners. He
is also an independent non-executive director of Emperor
Entertainment Hotel Limited (Stock Code: 296). He has been
an independent non-executive director of Simplicity Holding
Limited, a company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 8367) from August 2021 to October 2023. He has
been an independent nonexecutive director of My Heart Bodibra
Group Limited, a company listed on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 8297), from February 2018 to December
2018.

Mr. Yeung was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director and a Chairman of each of the Audit Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee on 1
February 2024.
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DIRECTORS" REPORT
ESEEHRE

The Directors are pleased to present their report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
Group is principally engaged in travel media operations with
provision of advertising services through the internet and travel
magazines, event organizing services and magazine publication;
provision of contents and advertising services in multiple well-
known financial magazine distributed in the PRC and provision
of advertising services through the internet and others media
channels; investment in securities and money lending. Details
of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set
out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by
operating segment is set out in note 6 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2024 is set out in "Director’'s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

Environmental Policies

The Group is committed to reducing its carbon footprint and
consumption of natural resources in all possible aspects
of business operations. Our environmental strategy is
to achieve a balance between the quality and efficiency
of our services and the minimization of greenhouse gas
emissions and environmental degradation. Accordingly, the
Group has taken a proactive approach to effect internal and
external communications by means of telephone, emails and
conferences or such other communication means which are
efficient yet environmentally friendly. Also, the Group are able
to minimize physical travelling and printing.

Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements and the risk of non-compliance
with such requirements. The Company is not aware of any non-
compliance in any material respect with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.
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PEE SRR IRE

Relationship with Employees

The employees of the Group are one of the most important
assets and the stakeholders of the Group and their contribution
and support are of values at all times. The Group regularly
reviews compensation and benefit policies accordingly to
industry benchmark as well as the individual performance of
employees. Other fringe benefits, mandatory provident fund
and share options (if any) are provided to retain loyal employees
aiming at forming a professional staff and management team
that can bring the Group to a higher level of success.

Relationships with Customers and Suppliers

The Directors believe that maintaining a good relationship with
customers is one of the critical reasons for the Group’s success.
Our business model is to maintain and build up on our strong
relationship with our client base. Our mission is to provide the
finest services to our customers and the Group is constantly
looking ways to improve customer relation through enhanced
services. Also, the Group has maintained good relationship with
the suppliers to ensure their continued support to the Group in
the foreseeable future.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the year are set out in
“Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income” of this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out in “Financial
Summary” of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements during the year in the property, plant
and equipment of the Group are set out in note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year in the share capital of
the Company are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial
statements. As at 31 December 2024, the Company has
147,540,930 shares of HK$0.04 each in issue. The value of share
capital was approximately HK$5,902,000 as at 31 December
2024 (31 December 2023: approximately HK$5,902,000).

Details of movements during the year in the share options are
set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements and
“SHARE - BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTION" section contained
in this directors’ report.

AR A

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEEHRE

LE B R BR
AEHEEERASEREENEEMRTN
Ez— AEE-BEPREENEMNX
F-AEBRETEEERREEEARR
TE AR R F BN B AR B BCER o AN SR 18 TR AR AR
H @ bt Ee REkiE (1
BN BROREE BRBEREEXNE
ThEZEEK #BAKEBAES-

BLE 5 Ko A R P O B R

EFERE BREFPREFEMAER BEEXN
SERSEENHERRAZZ —HMANE
BEAEET P BRI IR B R AR
Eﬁ%:&ﬁm@mmﬁ%?hhﬁﬁ@
MIRF BAKETEZHRTA BBRE
ﬂ%%ﬁ?ﬁ%t%?%%ﬁwNK%
BEHEER - BERTRIEBERE NERE
RA AR R REBE AR E -

X LRE
AEERAFEZXEFNRAFR RS
BmlEbEmEER] -

EETEBERNBEZE_FT
=T BIEFEHRBBKE-

hFFHHEE
AEERBERAYREE L EE BB
REBERERRAFR(PHHE] -

mE+=A

W HEE Rt
FREARAEE DK R LD
HEHNGRS S HREM 6 -

% Z<
RARARBRARFRAZEBSFBEREE
BB RMF24 RS -_WE+ - A
=+t—H &2 Ta%‘éﬁ147540930ﬂ§
SREECUB T ZRN - R_TE_MF
+=—A=+—8" szk{ﬁfﬁiﬁﬁs%zooo
BT (ZE_=Z=F+=-_A=+—H:4
5,902,000/ 7T ) °

BERERFAZEBFERHNES MR
K26 R AEFTERE [ RER

AL/ R -

=BT PUE S oy D



DIRECTORS" REPORT
ESEEHRE

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s by-law, or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata
basis to existing shareholders.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year are set out in “Consolidated Statement of
Changes in Equity” and in note 25 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the distributable reserves of the
Company amounted to Nil (2023: Nil).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy pursuant to which
the Company may declare and distribute dividends to the
shareholders of the Company.

The recommendation of the payment of any dividend is
subject to the absolute discretion of the Board, and any
declaration of final dividend will be subject to the approval
of the shareholders. In proposing any dividend payout, the
Board shall also take into account, inter alia, the Group’s
operations, earnings, financial condition, cash requirements
and availability, capital expenditure and future development
requirements and other factors it may deem relevant at such
time. Any payment of the dividend by the Company is also
subject to any restrictions under the articles of association of
the Company and all applicable laws and regulations.

The dividend policy will be reviewed from time to time and there
is no assurance that a dividend will be proposed or declared in
any specific periods.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2024, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed under the section headed "SHARE - BASED
PAYMENT TRANSACTION™ in this directors’ report and note
26 to the consolidated financial statements, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into by the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2024 or subsisted at the end of the year.
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DONATIONS
Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the
year was Nil (2023: Nil).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, sales attributable to
the Group’s largest customer accounted for 10% of the Group’s
total sales and aggregate sales attributable to the five largest
customers of the Group accounted for 52% of the Group’s total
sales.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, purchases attributable
to the Group’'s largest supplier accounted for 44% of the
Group’s total purchases and aggregate purchases attributable
to the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for 99% of
the Group's total purchases.

To the knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors, nor
their close associates, nor any shareholder owning more than
5% of the Company’s issued share capital had any interests in
any of the five largest customers or suppliers.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, except for those disclosed in note 30 to
the consolidated financial statements, the Group had no
transactions with its related parties.

The Directors conducted review of the related party
transactions of the Group during the year and were not aware of
any transactions requiring disclosure of connected transactions
or continuing connected transactions in accordance with the
GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive Directors

Wang Tao
Yu Tat Chi

Independent Non-executive Directors
Lee Yim Wah

Chow Yee Ting

Yeung Man Sun
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In accordance with article 85 of the articles of association of
the Company (the “Articles”), Mr. Wang Tao and Ms. Lee Yim
Wah shall retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All non-executive Directors are appointed for a term of 2 years.

EMOLUMENTS OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of emoluments of the Directors and the five highest
paid individuals of the Group are set out in notes 12 and 13 to
the consolidated financial statements respectively.

The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders” approval
at general meetings. Other emoluments are reviewed
and recommended by the remuneration committee of the
Company with reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities,
performance and the results of the Group.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of Directors and senior management
are set out in "Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors (the “INED(s)”) an annual confirmation
of their independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The Company considers all the INEDs are independent.

DIRECTORS" SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract
which is not determinable by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation
other than statutory compensation.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Company’s bye-law and subject to the relevant
provisions therein, the Directors, company secretary and other
officers shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the
assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they may
incur by execution of their duties in their respective offices or
otherwise in relation thereto.

COMPETING INTERESTS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board is not
aware of any business or interest of each director and the
respective close associates (as defined under the GEM Listing
Rules) of each that competes or may compete with the business
of the Group and any other conflicts of interest which any such
person has or may have with the Group.

DIRECTORS" INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in
which a Director or a connected entity of that Director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisting
during or at the end of the year.

ARRANGEMENTS FOR DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in the
Company or any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY AND ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions in
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the "SFO")) as recorded in
the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the required standard of dealings by Directors of
the Company as set out in rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules as follow:

Long position/short position in shares of the Company

Long position/

Name Capacity short position
e 54 BR KR
Mr Wang Tao Beneficial owner Long Position
TEEE BEREAA e

Note:

1. The relevant percentage is calculated by reference to the Shares
in issue on 31 December 2024, i.e. 147,540,930 shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the
Directors of the Company had any other interests or short
positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) which were notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO [(including interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO]J,
or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to
be entered in the register referred to therein, or which were
required, pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules relating to the
required standard of dealings by the directors to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2024, those persons (other than Directors
and chief executive of the Company) who had interests and
short positions in shares or underlying shares of the Company
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long position in ordinary shares of the Company

Name Number of shares
w# w140 BE
Niu Chengjun [Note 1) 22,336,184
FRRE (HEET)

Note: (1) The relevant percentage is calculated by reference to the

shares in issue on 31 December 2024, i.e. 147,540,930

shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, no person
(other than Directors and chief executive of the Company) had
notified the Company any interests or short positions in shares
or underlying shares of the Company which was recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under section 336
of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “2013 Share
Option Scheme”) on 31 December 2013, which was approved by
the shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting of the
Company held on the same date.

The purpose of the 2013 Share Option Scheme is to enable
the Group to grant share options to eligible participants as
incentives or rewards for their contribution to the growth of the
Group and to provide the Group with a more flexible means to
reward, remunerate, compensate and/or provide benefits to the
eligible participants.

The 2013 Share Option Scheme was expired on 31 December
2023.
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The table below shows the details on the movement of the TXRIR&EZ-_ZT-_WF+_-_A=+—H
outstanding share options granted to all grantees under the RIEZFEIAAMEAERRABERLMHEARIT

Scheme as at 31 December 2024. RS-
Number
Outstanding Number of options Number Outstanding
Closing price share options of shares exercised  options lapsed  share options
Exercise Immediately asat Number of Underlying during the during the as at
Name or category price before the  Vesting 1 January options  share options reporting reporting 31 December
of grantee Date of grant per share date of grant  date Exercisable period 2024 granted granted period period 2024
R R
=t S b3 =t S b
RERE -A-AR 2R RAEHE REEHE +-A=+-8
AfEz BE HATEZ BEH BREZ Bz BAHZ HARTEZ
RRAZEATER RUBH BRAEE hmE AR TORAEE BRE BREHE HERHHAE BREHE BREHE BRE
(HKS) (HKS)
(1) (&7)
Director
iz
Mr. Wang Tao 11 April 2022 03272 0312 None 11 April 2022 to 1,157,450 - - - (1,157,450)
10 April 2024
IEiE R CEMAT-H & ZZZ-5MA+-BE
ZEMERATA
9 employees 11 April 2022 03272 0312 None 11 April 2022 to 10,417,050 - - - 10,417,050}
10 April 2024
9% EE ZEZZEMAT-H & ZZZZFMAT-HE
ZZ-mEMATE
Total 11,574,500 - - - [11,574,500)

&t

The Outstanding share options as at the 1 January 2024 and 31 RZ-ZT_F—A—HE_-_ZT-_OF+=

December 2024 for Mr Wang Tao, the Executive Director of the A=+—H ' ARAGNITEE L ZLER

Company was 1,157,450 and Nil respectively. B H i ARTITEE B AE D B /R1,157,45010 K
Zipe

The Outstanding share options as at the 1 January 2024 and R_-Z_UF—A—HBEK _Z-_NF+ =
31 December 2024 for the employees of the Company were A=+—H ARG EEFENHKITHE

10,417,050 and Nil respectively. IR HED B A&10,417,05010 R EAD -

Since the 2013 Share Option Scheme was expired on 31 HR-E—=—FEREFEENR =T ==
December 2023, no share options available for grant under this F+ - A=+—HEm WEE2_ZT N
Share Option Scheme as at 31 December 2024. FH+_A=T—BRERBEZBRETS

AT (IR RO R AR -

As at 31 December 2024, the Company has not adopted New HZE_-_Z-NF+_-_F=+—H AR
Share Option Scheme. M AR R AN BT ) BB AR A 5T 2 -
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up
by the remuneration committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are reviewed and
recommended by the remuneration committee, having regard
to the Company’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics.

PENSION SCHEME

Details of the pension scheme of the Group and the employer’s
pension costs charged to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income for the year are set out in
notes 30 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the financial year.

COMPANY SECRETARY AND COMPLIANCE
OFFICER

Details of company secretary and compliance officer of the
Company is set out in “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” of this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

Details of the Company’'s corporate governance practices are
set out in “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained sufficient public float (i.e. at least 25% of the issued
shares were held by the public) as required by the GEM Listing
Rules during the year and up to the date of this report.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company has reviewed the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group
and the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2024.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Notice of annual general meeting of the Company will be
published on the website of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “"Stock Exchange”) at www.hkex.com.hk and the
website of the Company at www.sinosplendid.com, as well as
despatched to shareholders of the Company in due course.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2024 were audited by Wilson & Partners CPA
Limited ("Wilson & Partners”).

A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming annual
general meeting to re-appoint Wilson & Partners as the auditor
of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited
Yu Tat Chi
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 31 March 2025
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ABOUT THE GROUP

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited (the “Company” or “Sino
Splendid”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”, “we”, “us” or “our”) aim to be the most influential
and leading media publisher and event and exhibition organizer
in regard to its company vision. The Group is committed to
achieving the business goals and success, while simultaneously
integrating and adopting environmentally friendly measures;
providing a safe and decent working environment for
our employees and achieving sustainable values for our
stakeholders and communities.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group is principally
engaged in the following areas, including:

1. Travel media operations with provision of advertising
services through the internet and travel magazines, event
organizing services, and magazine publication ("Travel
Media Business”);

2. Provision of contents and advertising services in multiple
well-known financial magazines distributed in The People’s
Republic of China ("PRC”) ("Financial Magazine and Other
Media Business”);

3. investment in securities (“Securities Investment”);
4. money lending ("Money Lending Business”); and

5. virtual reality business ("Virtual Reality Business”).

ESG GOVERNANCE

The Group recognizes the importance of sustainable
development. Sustainability is crucial for the Group’s growth in
order to achieve business excellence and enhance long-term
competitiveness. The Group has established and implemented
various policies to manage and monitor the risks related to
the environment, employment, operating practices, and the
community. The Group always attaches great importance to
environmental, social and governance ("ESG") issues and has
the following responsibilities:

° review and monitor ESG-related issues on a regular basis;
° collect and compile data on ESG-related issues;

e analyse and report on the legal and moral compliance of
the ESG-related issues; and

e consult and jointly work with independent professionals
and consultants to overcome ESG challenges, if required.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RE -8 RERRE

The key message of the Group’s sustainability mission is to
reinforce the positive correlation between risk management
and governance, followed by product innovation and
management innovation. The Board (the “Board”) of Directors
(the "Directors”) oversees the ESG management of the Group
and has overall responsibility for the Group’s ESG strategy
and reporting. The Board leads and provides direction to
management by instituting ESG policies and initiatives,
supervising their implementation and monitoring ESG
performance. ESG mindset should be inherently integrated into
daily operations and business decision-making. In particular,
the Board pays close attention to the risks brought about
by environmental and climate change, which are critical
to the media business. With proper risk management, the
Group is poised to capture various opportunities brought
by environmental change and to make respective policy
adjustments accordingly.

In order to have better management of ESG-related issues,
the Board delegated the management to set up an ESG
working group for the daily operation of the ESG strategy. The
ESG working group comprises representatives from various
departments and has been established to plan and coordinate
ESG initiatives within the Company. This working group helps to
coordinate the day-to-day execution of our ESG strategy and is
supervised by members of the senior management.

The Group recognizes that ESG policies and practices may
change over time in order to cope with the changes in its
business operations, organizational structures, technology
development, statutory requirements and the business and
social environment, etc. Hence, the Group is committed to
providing adequate resources to monitor the changes and
enhance our ESG capabilities to cope with such changes on an
ongoing basis. In addition, the Group acknowledges its moral
obligation to maintain a high ethical standard by maintaining
transparency in conducting business. The Group is adamant
that it will continue to be law-abiding and be in compliance
with the rules and regulations to achieve its goal of sustainable
development in the environment, society and employees.

Stakeholder Engagement

The Group continues to engage the key stakeholders, such as
Board members, managers, employees, regulators, external
experts, and suppliers, through daily interactions and working
closely with them to discuss and review areas of attention via
various communication channels.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Materiality Assessment

RE -8 RERRE

SEMFG

Identifying the material ESG issues that matter the most to AIEAEEMEHAEENESCHER
the Group is a prerequisite for setting the framework for the |E ESG & EZ & HlEESC E R KB
ESG Report and formulation of ESG management strategies. RAifge At AEB FHETAITES E
As such, the Group regularly conducts internal materiality FFfh UHEETHAEBESREEMAIFHEL
assessments to determine the sustainability issues that matter EEBE H2IEARMAIHEER LKLY
the most to the Group, which will become the main focus of FZEE2 W{EHERBERENEE-

our sustainability strategy and facilitate the implementation of

relevant initiatives.

Through the materiality assessment, the Group has identified #EBE BT NEB D H B RN
the key ESG topics that are “relevant” and “important” to our X2EmMsEB MA@ LIEZ | WHEEESG
business. Based on the result of the materiality assessment, HBE - BEZEEHTFIHMNER U T AKX

the issues listed below are of high priority to the Group: SEELAZERNEIR:

Aspects Material ESG Issues

B EEESG HE

Social Aspect

HEEE

Employment Employee welfare
Inclusion and equal opportunities
Talent attraction and retention

EE BERAF

Health and Safety
REEZ 2

Development and Training

R R

Labour Standards
25 T2 R

Supply Chain Management

aYicE A

PEERITRIERAR AR

BREVEHRS
oI RBEANT

Occupational health and safety

BEEFRARZE

Development and Training

R R

Prevention of child and forced labour
FrlEE Tekogml & T

Supply chain management
Labour standards in supply chain
e s eI

HrEgEss T AR
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Aspects
B m

Product Responsibility

i
=)
pil
o

Anti-corruption

R&ES

Community Investment

HERKRE

ABOUT THIS REPORT
Scope and Boundary

Material ESG Issues

EEZESGCHE

Economic value generated

Protection of intellectual property rights
Customer satisfaction

Protection of customer privacy
EEXNKEEE

R & HN B EE R

BEPMEE

REZPILE

Corporate governance
Anti-corruption
rEER

RES

Community investment

HERE
AR A&
HERER

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the "ESG AIRIE - & NEAHRE ([ESCHE )
Report”) provides a detailed disclosure of the sustainability #HFETEAREBE (LHIRKKEFRESR
performance, policies, and strategies of the Group, in AR K& TTG Asia Media Pte Limited R &/&
particular, TTG Global Limited and TTG Asia Media Pte v 4 E(SB[EBEE]) ) NEBEE_Z
Limited's operations in Hong Kong (collectively, the “Hong — &+ _-A=+—BHI-FE ([HKEH
Kong operation”) for the year ended 31 December 2024 (the ) ZAI3FE3E KR  BUE MERE -

“Reporting Period”).

We apply the concept of materiality in the planning and MRS RFEEESCHEBREHRERSE
developing process of the ESG Report. Unless otherwise ZMHlS K B AIEHIN ESCHE &
indicated, the scope of the ESG Report covers the Company and EREARAIMEMEWHERF -

all its subsidiaries.
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Reporting Principles

This ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the
“ESG Reporting Guide”) as set out in Appendix C2 to the Rules
(the “GEM Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on
GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). According to the guideline, the following principles
are underpinned:

1. Materiality: ESG issues that have major impacts on
investors and other stakeholders must be set out in this
ESG Report.

2. Quantitative: If the key performance indicators (KPIs] have
been established, they must be measurable and applicable
to valid comparisons under appropriate conditions. They
must also be able to describe the purpose and impacts of
qguantitative information.

3. Balance: This ESG Report must provide an unbiased
picture of the ESG performances of the Group. It should
avoid selecting, omitting, or presentation formats that may
inappropriately influence a decision or judgment by the
readers.

4. Consistency: This ESG Report should use consistent and
statistical methodologies to allow meaningful comparisons
of related data over time. Any changes to the methods used
must be specified in the ESG Report.

Confirmation

The information documented in this ESG Report is sourced and
collected by the Group from official documents, statistical data,
management, and operation information in accordance with
relevant internal policies. The Group has established internal
control systems and a formal review process to ensure that any
information presented in this ESG Report is as accurate and
reliable as possible. In case of any discrepancy between the
English and Chinese versions, the English version shall prevail.

Feedback

The Group discloses the latest business and ESG-related
information regularly to investors and the public. We also
welcome investors and shareholders to share their views with
the Board of the Company by fax at +852 2237 7227 or via email
at info@sinosplendid.com.
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

As a responsible enterprise, the Group makes every endeavour
to take effective environmental protection measures to
minimize the environmental impacts caused by the business
operation. The Group strictly complies with the relevant
environmental laws and regulations in Hong Kong and
Singapore, such as Air Pollution Control Ordinance, Waste
Disposal Ordinance, Environmental Impact Assessment
Ordinance, Water Pollution Control Ordinance, and Noise
Control Ordinance. During the Reporting Period, no non-
compliance with any environmental protection laws and
regulations that had a significant impact on the Group relating
to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and
land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous wastes
had been identified.

Use of Resources

Given the Group's business nature, the Group and its daily
operations have little negative impacts on the natural
environment. The Group only consumes the following resources
in insignificant amounts:

e electricity consumption to carry out its activities;

e freshwater supplies for general offices and maintaining
staff’'s daily hygiene;

e fuel consumption used for business travel;

e packaging materials in the form of paper and paper bags;
and

e paper for printing and files.

We also promote the efficient use of resources under the 3R
("Reduce, Reuse and Recycle”) approach in our Environmental
Policies and Guidelines.

Energy Use

The Group drives to reduce the energy use of both office
operations and event activities. As an environmentally friendly
measure, we have installed energy-saving equipment and
devices where feasible. During the Reporting Period, the total
energy consumption was 146.02 gigajoule ("GJ"); and the
energy intensity was 4.96 GJ per million HKD revenue.
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Although energy use is not one of the material ESG topics,
the Group will continue to monitor the energy consumption
and improve efficiency in all operations. Last year, the Group
targeted to maintain or reduce the energy consumption level
during the Reporting Period and it achieved the reduction by
around 18%. It aims to further reduce it in 2025 or maintain the
consumption.

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by

type 2024
REDNSSNWEER S REEEFEE —E-mEF
Direct energy consumption -
HERRERE

Indirect energy consumption 146.02
MZEREREE

Total energy consumption 146.02
RERERE

Intensity (by revenue) 4.96

TmE (R

Water Use

Owing to the business and operation nature, the Group only
consumes freshwater for general office and daily uses, and all
its supplies are from the city’s central water supply network.
There was no water sourcing issue during the Reporting Period.
Although the total volume of water consumption is insignificant,
the Group implemented policies and guidelines encouraging
our employees to adopt good practices for water-saving as
freshwater is one of the most valuable natural resources
on the planet today. During the Reporting Period, the total
water consumption was 30 cubic meters ("'m®”); and the water
intensity was 1.02 m® per million HKD revenue.

Last year, the Group targeted to maintain or reduce the water
consumption level during the Reporting Period and it achieved
reduction by around 88%. It aims to further reduce it in 2025 or
maintain the consumption.

Water consumption in total and intensity 2024
BMRAKERBAKEE —EEF
Total water consumption 30
BEKE

Intensity (by revenue) 1.02
=g (B

N

Al
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av g
sl

BERBERE AW IERNEBEAEKESC
2 BAREBBEEERERLESH
MR EERRESERAGZ £2F &
SENERREFEZREREHEME
BKFE HEBERRDDN18% - AEH

EEE—PREIBHF T _AFHER
IR o
2023  Unit
—EF-= B
- 6J
=3
179.18  GJ
HE
179.18  GJ
FHE
4.23  GJ/HKD million
HTEBEET
Tk B R {E
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JiAKe
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2023 Unit
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Emissions

Air Emissions

In the Group’s operations, there are no industrial or commercial
processes with direct fuel combustion which cause air
emissions locally.

Greenhouse Gas Emissions

The main sources of the Group’'s greenhouse gas ("GHG")
emissions include direct emissions from the combustion of
fuels in vehicles ("Scope 17), indirect emissions of purchased
electricity ("Scope 2”), and other indirect emissions (“Scope 3]
respectively. In the Reporting Period, the total GHG emissions
were 27.50 tonnes of CO,-equivalent. The scope 3 emissions
included the greenhouse gases emitted from the paper waste
disposed at landfills, business air travel and water and sewage
processing. For details, please refer to the table below.

Greenhouse gas emissions 2024
BEREBHENRE —EBWEF
Scope 1 emissions -
HENBERE

Scope 2 emissions 26.77
HE2HME

Scope 3 emissions 0.73
HEBEWRE

Total greenhouse gas emissions 27.50
REREBHNEE

Intensity (by revenue) 0.93
=E (R

As GHG emissions are the key cause of climate change, the
Group shall continue to monitor the carbon footprint of our
operations and identify possible areas for mitigating our
impacts on the environment. Last year, the Group targeted to
maintain or reduce the total greenhouse gas emissions during
the Reporting Period and it achieved reduction of total GHG
emissions by around 20%. It aims to further reduce it in 2025 or
maintain the consumption.
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Waste Generation

The Group’'s operations and activities do not generate any
hazardous waste; whereas an insignificant amount of non-
hazardous waste such as living and office wastes are produced
from the offices. In the Reporting Period, an insignificant
amount of non-hazardous waste was produced, and the waste
has been sent to landfills. We shall continue to keep track
of the amount of waste produced from our operations. No
reduction targets have been set for waste generation due to its
insignificant amount.

The Environment and Natural Resources

As a corporate citizen, the Group understands and respects that
we have a responsibility to the environment. The Environmental
Policies and Guidelines are implemented with an aim to
minimize the impact on the environment and natural resources.
Due to the business nature, the impacts of the activities on
the environment and natural resources are not material for
disclosure.

Climate Change

In recent years, climate change is s global environmental
problem affecting both Singapore and Hong Kong. It has
become a main world trend that all countries join hands to
respond to climate change and promote green and low-carbon
development. The physical and transition risks caused by
climate change may influence the business operation of the
Group.

Average global temperature and sea levels are expected to rise
if carbon emissions from human activities continue to grow
unchecked, and the frequency and intensity of extreme weather
events are likely to increase. Extreme weather events can lead
to changes in rainfall patterns, resulting in more severe rainfall
or typhoons. The Group will review the existing measures to
ensure the safety of its employees during extreme weather.
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Besides, changes in laws and regulations due to climate
change may also have impacts on business operation. Policy
changes regarding carbon emission restriction, carbon pricing
and reporting obligations may increase the Group's operating
costs. The Group will monitor the issuance of new laws and
regulations and access the risk posted to the Group timely to
mitigate the effects to the Group.

The Group recognizes that the emission of greenhouse gases
is one of the factors leading to climate change. Although
there are no industrial or commercial processes in the daily
operation, the Group will still promote a green lifestyle among
the employees and strive to reduce the use of vehicles and
electricity. The Group will do its part to reduce emissions while
ensuring that it continues to grow and prosper.

SOCIAL ASPECTS

Employment and Labour Practices

The management of the Group believes that employees are
the most valuable asset and an indispensable part of our
business. Through the Human Resources Department, the
Group has adopted fair and equitable policies and practices, to
pursue and provide a safe and pleasant working environment
for all employees, regardless of age, gender, family status,
sexual orientation, ethnicity, creed, and religion, or other
characteristics.

The Group also recognizes the importance and necessity of
continuing training for the growth and development of its
employees. Therefore, the Group strives to provide training
opportunities and support in various ways.

Employment

We strictly comply with the relevant laws and regulations in
our employment and labour process, for instance, recruitment,
dismissal, promotion, and remuneration of employees
regardless of where we operate. The legitimate rights and
interests of employees are protected in accordance with laws
and regulations. During the Reporting Period, the Group was
not aware of any material non-compliance with laws and
regulations in respect of employment and labour practices,
such as Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong, Employment Act
of Singapore, Labour Law and Labour Contract Law of the PRC.
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Policies on employees’ rights and benefits, including public
holidays, annual paid leaves, sick leaves and maternity leaves,
have been formulated and executed per the Labour Law and
Labour Contract Law of Hong Kong and Singapore, and Salary
Payment Regulations of the operating regions. Employees in
Hong Kong and Singapore have been provided with Mandatory
Provident Fund (MPF) and Central Provident Fund (CPF).

The Group formulates its own reward system with reference to
market salary trends. The contribution of individual employees
to the Group is also a major consideration in salary adjustment.
Overall, there are three types of salary adjustment: regular
salary adjustment, seniority salary adjustment, and post-
salary adjustment. There was no change in its recruitment
procedure during this Reporting Period. No major changes have
been made to the appraisal, promotion, reward and penalty
system. All employees are liable for promotion based on their
competence and suitability for specific positions. When there is
a vacancy, priority is given to internal employees.

Equal opportunity is provided to all employees in terms of
promotion, appraisal, training, development and other aspects.
Employees are not discriminated against or deprived of
opportunities based on gender, nationality, ethnic background,
religion, political affiliation, age, marital status, and physical
disability.

The Group mainly recruits local workers with suitable skills.
In line with the continuously growing business scale, the
Group also actively acquires talents from different countries
or background to join our team, which includes Singaporean,
Chinese, and Hong Kong workers. As at the end of the
Reporting Period, the Group had an aggregate of 22 employees,
of which 6 were based in Hong Kong, 9 in China and 7 in
Taiwan.
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The following figures are based on the total number of
employees at the end of the Reporting Period as on 31

December 2024.

Total workforce

EBEAH

Total number of employees

BEBAHK
By Gender
BRI RIS

By employment type
REFEIE D

By age group

RERARNE D

By employment category
ZEB BRSNS

By function
RSl D

By geographical region
=i = 8 5

Male

S
Female
g
Full-time
2
Part-time
e Bk
<=30
30B% AR
31-50
31-505%
>50
505% A E
Managerial
EEE
Senior
=R
Middle

H R
Junior
#%
Executive
KEBR
Technical

il

Administrative

T
Production
HE
Singapore
03
Hong Kong
)
China

b
Taiwan

A=
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2024
—E-E

22

13

13

13

14

24

18

ATHFERBERR(ZFT_MOF+=
A=+—R)NEREHER-

Unit
B

Employee
ZEE
Employee
%EE
Employee
g8
Employee
ZREE
Employee
%EE
Employee
%1EE
Employee
ZREE
Employee
ZEE
Employee
#EE
Employee
g8
Employee
ZEE
Employee
#EE
Employee
g8
Employee
ZEE
Employee
#EE
Employee
#EE
Employee
ZEE
Employee
#EE8
Employee
#EE
Employee
g8
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Employee turnover rate

BERAR

Total employee turnover rate
mEEERAX

By Gender

BRI &2

By employment type
mERERE S

By age group
RE AR E D

By employment category
wEBRFIE D

By geographical region
RilE S o
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Health and Safety

The Group attaches great importance and care to its employees’
health and safety in the workplace and strictly complies with
relevant laws and regulations, which include but not limited to
the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance. The Group has
equipped workplaces with a complete set of required safety
equipment and facilities. All supervisors and site managers
are constantly reminded to ensure that the workplace is safe
by taking all reasonable measures to place employee safety
as the top priority. It is the Group's belief that all employees
have a duty to look after their safety. The integration of these
principles is the key approach of the Group on the health and
safety of employees.

In Singapore, the Ministry of Manpower performs regular
checks on office safety; occupational health, and safety
measures, such as the use of ladders for retrieving files from
high cabinets. During the Reporting Period, the Group did not
have material non-compliance with the laws and regulations
in relation to occupational safety and health in Hong Kong and
Singapore to prevent occupational health and safety risks and
protect the occupational safety of employees. There were no
hazardous activities involved in the Group's operations. During
the past three years, including the Reporting Period, the Group
had no reported work-related fatalities.
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Health and Safety 2024 2023 Unit
BERZE —E-WF —E-=F B
Number of work-related fatalities 0 0 No.
B TEBER M T8 A %
Rate of work-related fatalities 0 0 %
ETIEMEMIL T A AR X %
Lost days due to work injury 0 0 No.
ATEEATHEAR A

Development and Training

During the Reporting Period, the Group sponsored and
organized a total of 20 hours of training for 22 staff members,
representing 27% of our total number of employees.

The Group continuously offers and sponsors training to staff
at all levels and of both genders to enhance their skills and
professional knowledge, which benefits the employees as
well as ultimately the Group. We will continue to explore and
support such a practice in the future.
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Percentage of trained

employees 2024 2023 Unit
ZillEEFD —EomE T =F B
Percentage of total employees 27 48 %
trained
BIXIEEADL
By Gender Male 33 62 %
=1t R &l D S
Female 20 36 %
4
By employee category Managerial 33 71 %
RESEMNE D EIRE
Senior 21 50 %
=R
Middle 21 30 %
AR
Junior 14 50 %
IE
By Function Executive 33 83 %
RS D raEE
Technical 0 60 %
R i
Administrative 22 18 %
1T
Production 50 60 %
HE

PEERITRIERAR AR =L S =N



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RE -8 RERRE

Average training hours
completed

58 B 3 FI B9 F 39 B B

Average training hours per
employee

F2 8 TR FIEE IR

By Gender

gl

Male

St
Female

Z
Managerial
EIRE
Senior
=R
Middle
R4
Junior
UES
Executive
KREER
Technical

B ir
Administrative
TR
Production

HEE

By employee category
REEBERE D

By function
mEEEE D

Labour Standards

The Group monitors the recruitment process closely in order
to ensure compliance with relevant rules and regulations.
The Group forbids any child and forced labour and strictly
complies with the Labour Laws of Hong Kong, Employment Act
of Singapore, and other applicable laws and regulations. The
Group strives to provide the required labour protection, safety
and health conditions to ensure employees’ safety during their
services.

We prohibit child and forced labour in any of our operations
including the production process. We have established a
strict protocol for hiring, of which we screen candidates in
accordance with the minimum age of their respective work
locations. As the minimum hiring age is 18 in Singapore, hired
employees must sign an employment letter to agree on the
terms and conditions.
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2024 2023 Unit
—ECmE ST =F B

0.9 0.7 Hour/employee
ANV

1.2 1.5 Hour/employee
WK BB

0.6 1.4 Hour/employee
ANV

1 2.9 Hour/employee
NEIRE

0.4 2.5 Hour/employee
NE R E

0.3 2.0 Hour/employee
N BE

0 10.0 Hour/employee
N BE

1.7 3.3 Hour/employee
AN

0 4 Hour/employee
BB B

0.7 1.81 Hour/employee
AN

1.0 4 Hour/employee
N EE

5 T8
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The Group also paid wages and salaries, benefits and
compensations on schedule. During the Reporting Period, there
have been no cases of prosecution against the Group due to
violation of any relevant labour laws and regulations including
but not limited to the prevention of child and forced labour.

The Group exercises due care in dealing with its significant
number of suppliers and buyers. The Group needs to ensure its
product and service quality as well as observe its obligations on
fairness, equity and transparency on business and operational
practices.

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

The Group has formulated a Purchase Policy on the principle
that the purchases are not only for fulfilling the business
needs but also integrate social responsibility into purchasing
decisions. All of the suppliers will undergo the following
reviewing processes:

e Quotation comparison and review of supplier’s offering in
relation to procurement needs as well as track record;

e Qutlining of expectations and requirements with
documentation in a formal contract/agreement;

e  Confirmation of vendor through mutual acknowledgment of
the agreement;

e Feedback-loop process during the duration of service
between users and the vendor;

. Internal review of vendor satisfaction; and

e Sharing of internal review with vendor for the discussion
of next steps (either continue the contract with the vendor,
confirmation of vendor subject to select deliverables or
termination of the vendor).

PEERITRIERAR AR
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Apart from assessing its suppliers on quality, cost, service
and delivery time, the Group also assesses whether potential
suppliers of goods and services have demonstrated that they
also commit to environmental and social responsibilities.
The environmental and social risk assessment for suppliers
would be conducted in a periodical basis based on the news
announcement, ongoing quality or work delivered. The Group’s
concerns in selecting our suppliers include their environmental
and social awareness, such as their policies on the use of
recycled or natural materials and forbidding child and forced
labour employment.

In addition, cost-saving and efficiency in logistics management
and goods travel are the Group’'s guiding criteria affecting our
decisions. The Group has continued to adopt a decentralized
procurement approach at the operational level which is
required to follow the above policy and guiding criteria as
strictly as possible. Subsidiaries are given full autonomy in
sourcing suppliers based on their local business needs. The
Group strives to procure sustainable materials from local
suppliers whenever possible as a part of its effort to promote a
low-carbon operation.

The Group also continues to source our supplies from
local suppliers to support local economic development and
ensure the effectiveness of supply. According to the GRI G4
Sustainability Reporting Guidelines, a local supplier is defined
as an organization that provides a product or service to the
reporting entity and that is based in the same geographical
market as the reporting entity (that is, no transnational
payments to the supplier are made). During the Reporting
Period, the Group had a total of 3 suppliers.
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Number of suppliers by
geographical region

EHES S NHERRE

Number of suppliers by
geographical region

i lE & oy B R R 2R B

Total number of suppliers

HIEm AR

By geographical region Hong Kong

i = 8 5 F8
Singapore
AN
China
e
Japan
SN
Korea
PR
Taiwan

PANN 51
A /=

With the Group’s belief in the value and benefits of building
trust with the suppliers, we continue to practice a transparent
tendering system for its procurement with the purpose to
eliminate malpractice and bribery incidents in accordance with

the local laws and regulations.

PEERITRIERAR AR

2024
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25

Unit
B

Supplier
HE R
Supplier
ZHERE
Supplier
ZHER
Supplier
ZHER
Supplier
AR
Supplier
AR
Supplier
AR
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Product and Service Quality

The Group is deeply aware of the importance of product
quality of its saleable products and services. The Group has
established reporting systems on after-sales services to ensure
that service users and product buyers are satisfied with the
products and services. If there are any disputes, procedures
and systems are in place to timely address any dissatisfaction
reported or discovered. During the Reporting Period, the Group
did not have a record of compensating or refunding any sales
based on the quality of our products and services.

Complaint management

Handling customer complaints is an important part of any
business. It is essential to have a process in place to ensure
that customers are satisfied with the service they receive.
This involves explaining why the customer’s complaint was
not addressed and what steps can be taken to prevent similar
issues from occurring in the future. Additionally, the Group also
offers other non-monetary service recovery efforts as a form
of compensation before direct refund. In some cases, it may
be necessary to provide a refund if the customer’'s complaint
cannot be resolved through other means.

Protection of Customer Privacy

The Group's business operation has generated large volumes
of private and confidential information on buyers and suppliers.
We are both morally and legally bound to treat the information
and data carefully and have committed to abiding by the
requirements of the Personal Data (Privacy)] Ordinance of Hong
Kong and other relevant laws, regulations and requirements.
The data of our customers and suppliers are kept under a
secure system by our senior management, and employees have
been warned not to access or use this information without
approval.

The Group also established “Privacy Policy” aiming to
protecting the privacy and personal information and periodic
review of the policy will be conducted by our corporate IT team.
The Group will not rent, sell or share the personal information
of the clients. The Group did not experience any private
information leakage during the Reporting Period.

Intellectual Property Rights

The Group recognizes the importance of intellectual property
rights. The Group duly pays writers and designers who allow the
Group to print and use their intellectual property in its media
publications and international trade events and exhibitions. The
Group was not subject to any litigation for any infringement of
intellectual property rights for the Reporting Period.
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Anti-Corruption

The Group is committed to achieving and maintaining
openness, uprightness and accountability of its employees
and all employees are expected to uphold ethical, personal
and professional conduct standards. We have established a
set of stringent policies and code of conduct to emphasise
values of integrity, fairness, transparency and accountability to
stand against corruption and fraud. Our Employees” Handbook
mentions that all directors, officers and employees of the Group
shall observe and be in compliance with high standards of
ethical behaviour. In addition, the Group’s strong stance against
corruption and fraud is communicated to all employees so as to
ensure they are fully aware.

All employees must ensure all expense claims relating
to hospitality, gifts or expenses incurred to third parties
are submitted in accordance with our expenses policy and
specifically record the reason for the expenditure. Employees
may not accept any gift or hospitality from our business
partners. If it is not appropriate to decline the offer of a gift,
the gift may be accepted, provided it is then declared to the
Director and donated to charity.

Whistle-blowing mechanisms can be triggered by revenues
through email when suspicious of any signs of bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering issues. Staff are
encouraged to raise concerns about any issue or suspicion
of malpractice at the earliest possible stage with Director or
the Company Secretary. Information of the whistle-blower
is confidential. Once discovered and confirmed, the related
personnel will be punished according to the severity of the
incident or his/her employment will be terminated.

To strengthen the anti-corruption practice and enhance its
employees’ awareness on conflicts of interest and integrity
issues, internal training and relevant materials relating to
anti-money laundering and anti-corruption will be provided to
Directors.

The Group was in strict compliance with the Prevention of
Bribery Ordinance and no legal case regarding corrupt practices
was brought against the Group or its employees during the
Reporting Period. The Group did not violate any laws and
regulations that had a significant impact on the Group relating
to corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.
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COMMUNITY

Community Investment

The Group is committed to improving our communities and
the lives of stakeholders in our communities. The Group
encourages and supports our staff to take part in volunteer
services such as regularly assisting those in need or
poverty and arranging outdoor activities for disadvantaged
groups. Internally, the Group focuses on providing more job
opportunities to new employees, and improving employees’
working environment and skills by investing in facilities and
training.

The Group also strives to provide employment opportunities for
the disadvantaged, retired and disabled who have completed
retraining courses, and give priority to suppliers who hire
disabled persons.
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HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX
BERARZHM (B HEREAB/ERS) AER

5l

KPls
BREEMER

1 Governance
Structure

PR

Reporting
Principles

bEE ¥R SR Bl

Reporting
Boundary

bE ¥R €0 [

PEERITRIERAR AR

Disclosure Requirements

WEHRE
Disclosure of the board’s oversight of ESG issues;

BREEFSHRR HERELRFENEE:

Board’s ESG management approach and strategy,
including the process used to evaluate, prioritise and
manage material ESG-related issues) (including risks
to the issuer’s businesses

EFENRR L REARTETH MK B
BRI REREZNRT HELELAHEBREE (8
BEBHITAERBORAR)HBIZ:

How the board reviews progress made against ESG-
related goals and targets with an explanation of how
they relate to the issuer’s businesses.

EFgNRRE HeEREBE SRR ER LK
BEMNAEZEITARBEERE-

Description of, or an explanation on, the application
of the following Reporting Principles (Materiality,
Quantitative, Consistency] in the preparation of the
ESG report

Rl BEERBERE L LEAREHNFERAT
JIERRA (E2MH 8 —BU%)

A narrative explaining the reporting boundaries of
the ESG report and describing the process used to
identify which entities or operations are included in
the ESG report. If there is a change in the scope, the
issuer should explain the difference and reason for
the change

MEBRE HeMNEAMENEREE - MR PR
ERIXEBAARR HEREARENBRE - FER
HEGHNE BTARRETRAZENEEHREA-

Sections

=6
ESG Governance

ESGE’A

ESG Governance

ESGER

ESG Governance

ESGE A

About This Report

o
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AR A E

About This Report
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KPIs
BRENEE
Environmental
IRIE
Aspect Al:
Emissions
EHEAT : BERRY)
Al General
Disclosure
— MR
A1.1
A1.2
A1.3
Al.4
52

Ea R

Disclosure Requirements

REHRE

Policies

BUR

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer; relating to air
and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water
and land, and generation of hazardous and non-

hazardous waste.

BTHBITABEKRER

BOAR MR -

The types of emissions and respective emissions data.

BE R IR R AR R B I BUE

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2]
greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

B (BEN) keeREE (BE2)RERBHNE (AR
HE)R(MER)BE (WAEBESEMN  BERKMHE

%) o

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

%FEE%W%%“%(MW%“
NEESEN BERBAE

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes])
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).

FRELEEZERMAEE (AEHE
NEESEN SERMBAHE) -

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited

CENERBERSRE
ﬁ$&iﬂ%ﬁﬁ'ﬁ%&ﬁ%?%%%?iﬁmﬁ

AR EE (0

Sections

Emissions

Emissions

Emissions

Waste Management

BEEME R

Waste Management

1R
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KPIs

BRENEE

A1.5

Al.6

A2 Use of Resource
BR{FE A

A2 General

Disclosure

—MRIFE

A2.1

A2.2

A2.3

A2.4

A2.5

PEERITRIERAR AR

RE -8 RERRE

Disclosure Requirements Sections

RERE ;0]

Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to Emissions
achieve them.
MR BEREE R R REDEL B EMERIMNT  HHRY
Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous Waste Management
wastes are handled, and a description of reduction
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
HAREEAEREZTEREYNITE MM BEEYEE
BEERERAEDEL B FEMAEIRA SR

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including Energy Consumption
energy, water and other raw materials.

BREAER (BIEIR K REMRM ) BB - BEIRIE#E

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. Energy Consumption
electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in '000s) and
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

REREISNEE R/ KEZER(NE - R3Oh) 8 BRER
BUNTRETESFAE) RBE (MAEBEESENL &
EREAE)

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit ~ Water Consumption
of production volume, per facility).

BIEKEREE (MUBEEEM BEREFE) k&
Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and Energy Consumption

steps taken to achieve them.

MR LM RERRm B R R SEDELBFMR ERER
HXE) 258 -

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing Water Consumption
water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s)
set and steps taken to achieve them.

i at SREGE RKR ERT B ERIBE - A RFETZAK  AKE
M BRNREIE LB FAERNN T

Total packaging material used for finished products (in  Packaging Materials
tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit
produced.

HmAABEMHNEE (UHFE) R (WER)E BEMH
HEBMhE-
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KPIs
BRENEE
A3 The Environment
and Natural
Resources
RIRERRAER
A3 General
Disclosure
—MIZE
A3.1
A4 Climate Change
FIRBME,
A4 General
Disclosure
—MRIRE
A4l
54

Disclosure Requirements

RERE

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts
on the environment and natural resources.

AR ETAHRERRARERERERT EHBR
Description of the significant impacts of activities on the
environment and natural resources and the actions

taken to manage them.

AR RS EHRERRARERNER

BERZENTH-

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant
climate-related issues which have impacted, and
those which may impact, the issuer.

Al hEHE R LA EE

MHEEEMHEER -

Description of the significant climate-related issues
which have impacted, and those which may impact,
the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.

e LA e WHITAEL

B REHTH-

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited

RERERE

BHRITAELE B E KRR &

MERRIRARESE

Sections

BE

Environment and
Natural Resources
RIERRAER
Environment and
Natural Resources

RERRXAER

Climate Change

TR

Climate Change

TIRE L
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KPIs
BRENEE
Social
A=
B1 Employment
EE
B1 General
Disclosure
— IR 5
B1.1
B1.2
B2 Health and Safety
HEREZ 2
B2 General
Disclosure
—MRIRE
B2.1
B2.2
B2.3

PEERITRIERAR AR

Disclosure Requirements

RERE

Policies

R

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer; relating
to compensation and dismissal, recruitment, and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, antidiscrimination, and other
benefits and welfare.

BTHETABERYENARAHLEE BREEE
THERE- R FERES Sl REBBEAREA
frid LB e HERER MR-

Total workforce by gender, employment type (for
example, full- or part-time), age group and
geographical region.

IR EEEE (MERERE)  FicAn Rzl
DHEE RS-

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region.

BIER - FiARN MR EI DN EERKLL K-

Policies

R

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

BTHERTABERZENERERZLRD

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in
each of the past three years including the reporting
year.

BE=F (BERERFE)BFRAITHRNAZBMLE X

Lost days due to work injury.

AIEERTERE-

Description of occupational health and safety measures
adopted, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

AR B R R R 2556 A RBERTRE
BIE.

Sections

;0]

Employment

(=

Employment

(=

Employment

1%
Employment

(=25

Health and Safety

REREZE
Health and Safety

f2 e 2
Health and Safety

RREEZ
Health and Safety
RREERE
Health and Safety

RREZ

P
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KPIs
BRENEE
B3 Development and
Training
BR R
B3 General
Disclosure
— R
B3.1
B3.2
B4 Labour standards
& TR
B4 General
Disclosure
—MRIFE
B4.1
B4.2
56

Disclosure Requirements

RERE

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills
for discharging duties at work. Description of training
activities.

BRRITEES BT TIEB S & A B LB Y BUR » it
ElEE e

The percentage of employees trained by gender and
employee category (e.g. senior management, middle
management).

BUERIREEREMN (NERERERE FREERE) DM
XiIMEEBR D -

The average training hours completed per employee by
gender and employee category.

RUERIREEENE D BREBTHEIINF IR

Policies

R

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

BTHBETABERZENHEBER MR

Description of measures to review employment
practices to avoid child and forced labour.

et i ET S B O pE AR 2 B T MGRKIS T o

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices
when discovered.

RN ER B ERE BB AT RIS -
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Sections

BE

Development and
Training

TR R

Development and
Training

R R
Development and

Training

TR R

Labour standards

TR
Labour standards

& TR
Labour standards

BT
Labour standards
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KPIs
BRENEE
B5 Supply chain
management
e g E 1R
B5 General
Disclosure
—MRIEE
B5.1
B5.2
B5.3
B5.4
Bé6 Product
Responsibility
EmEE
B6 General
Disclosure
—MRIFE
B6.1
B6.2
B6.3
B6.4
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Disclosure Requirements

RERE

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of
the supply chain.

EIRH R AR R A g R REUR o

Number of suppliers by geographical region.

mriEE DO HEREE -

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers,
number of suppliers where the practices are being
implemented, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

Mt AR AHERNED  mERTHE BB HE
BEA  UREERITRERITE

Description of practices used to identify environmental
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they
are implemented and monitored.

M ABBAHEREGERONREIEERARNED
ANMEBERITRER A

Description of practices used to promote
environmentally preferable products and services
when selecting suppliers, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

R ERRE R RS2 2 ARRE m MR E B
ANMRBERITRERE

Policies

R

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

BIFHETABEAZENHBERZ LA

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to
recalls for safety and health reasons.

EERCEXEMAE D E L 2 EE2RER AU
ABotbe

Number of products and service related complaints
received and how they are dealt with.

BREBRERMRBHRFEE ANEYH A

Description of practices relating to observing and
protecting intellectual property rights.

Tt B A o S (R IE RN B EEE A RV IB ] -

Description of quality assurance process and recall
procedures.

Ml E St E BENEMLBWIER -

Sections

;0]

Supply chain
management
e e 2

Supply chain
management
HrEgEE 2

Supply chain
management

HEHEIE

Supply chain
management

(39% - A=gd
Supply chain

management

H e e 2

Product Responsibility

EmAEE
Product Responsibility

EmaE
Product Responsibility

EmAE
Product Responsibility

EmBfE
Product Responsibility

EmEME
Product Responsibility
EmEE
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RIR HERE

KPIs
BRENEE
B6.5
B7 Anti-corruption
RES
B7 General
Disclosure
—MRIRE
B7.1
B7.2
B7.3
B8 Community
investment
MEEE
B8 General
Disclosure
—MRIREE
B8.1
B8.2
58

AR

Disclosure Requirements

Description of consumer data protection and privacy
policies, and how they are implemented and

monitored.

OB E ERHRE RARER

JTE

Policies

1285

ARARBRAIT RER

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

BTHETABEARE

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt

practices brought against the issuer or its employees

M ARRRE R KRB

during the reporting period and the outcomes of the

cases.

REFRHABETAIERERLYCEENE SRR

E LR SQE DN E TN

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing

o

procedures, and how they are implemented and

monitored.

RIRPr S R B WAE R  ANRBBRITRER A
Description of anti-corruption training provided to

directors and staff.

fmEERE TREMNREFET -

Policies on community engagement to understand the

needs of the communities where the issuer operates
and to ensure its activities take into consideration the

communities” interests.

BRAAHESERTHA

7k
LY

BT R E B AR E R

EEEEEAEMEAR -
Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education,
environmental concerns, labour needs, health,

culture, sport).

EIERBE (WHE BRRFE BIFK R X

t-8F5)-

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time] to the focus

area.

EEIBREMBAER (NeElKHE) -

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited

Sections

BE

Product Responsibility

il

EmAE

Anti-corruption

RE&ES
Anti-corruption

R&ES
Anti-corruption

RES

Anti-corruption

RES
Anti-corruption

R&ES

Community
investment

HEREKRE

Community
investment

HERKRE

Community
investment

HRRE
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is always committed to maintaining high standard of
corporate governance. The Company throughout the year 2024
has fully complied with the applicable code provisions in the
Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report
(the "CG Code”) contained in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

CULTURES AND VALUES

A healthy corporate culture across the Group is integral to
attain its vision and strategy. It is the Board’s role to foster
a corporate culture with the following core principles and
to ensure that the Company’s vision, values and business
strategies are aligned to it.

1. Integrity and code of conduct

The Group strives to maintain high standards of business
ethics and corporate governance across all our activities
and operations. The Directors, management and staff are
all required to act lawfully, ethically and responsibly, and
the required standards and norms are explicitly set out in
the training materials for all new staff and embedded in
various policies such as the Group’s employee handbook
(including therein the Group's code of conduct], the anti-
corruption policy and the whistleblowing policy of the
Group. Trainings are conducted from time to time to
reinforce the required standards in respect of ethics and
integrity.

2. Commitment

The Group believes that the culture of commitment to
workforce development, workplace safety and health,
diversity, and sustainability is one where people have a
feeling of commitment and emotional engagement with the
Group’s mission. This sets the tone for a strong, productive
workforce that attracts, develops, and retains the best
talent and produces the highest quality work. Moreover,
the Company’s strategy in the business development
and management are to achieve long-term, steady and
sustainable growth, while having due considerations from
environment, social and governance aspects.
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DIRECTORS" SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the required standard of dealings in
securities (the “Required Standard of Dealings”) as set out in
rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as its own code of
conduct governing the securities transactions by the Directors.
Following a specific enquiry made by the Company, all the
Directors confirmed that they complied with or they were not
aware of any non-compliance with the Required Standard of
Dealings for the year ended 31 December 2024.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board composition

The Board is collectively responsible for the oversight of the
management of the business affairs of the Group with the
objective of enhancing shareholders value.

For Board composition, please refer to the section
“DIRECTORS” in the "Directors’ Report” of this annual report.

The Board currently consists of five members, including two
Executive Directors and three Independent Non-executive
Directors. The Board currently has two female Directors which
achieved the gender diversity in Board level. At least one of our
Independent Non-executive Directors has the professional and
accounting qualifications as required by the Listing Rules.

Throughout the year 2024, the Company has complied with
rules 5.05(1) and (2], and 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of
independence in writing from each of the INEDs pursuant to
Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers them to be
independent.

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family
or other material relationship) between members of the Board.
Biographies of Directors are set out in “Biographical Details of
Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.
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Board responsibilities and delegation

The overall management of the Company’s businesses is vested
in the Board, which assumes the responsibility for leadership
and control of the Company and determines the overall
strategies and decides on significant financial and operational
issues. Types of decisions reserved for the Board are those
affecting the Group’s overall strategic and financial policies,
material contracts and major investments.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation
of the Company are delegated to the management which is
responsible for the execution of the strategies and polices
adopted by the Board.

Attendance at Board and general meetings

The Board held 5 meetings during the financial year ended
31 December 2024 to consider, among other things, reviewing
and approving the quarterly, half-yearly, annual results and
payment of dividend (if any) of the Group.

The attendance record of each Director at Board and general
meetings in 2024 is set out below:

Directors

Ex

Executive Directors HTES

Wang Tao =

Yu Yat Chi REX
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHTES
Lee Yim Wah FHE

Chow Yee Ting B#&te

Yeung Man Sun Bk

PEERITRIERAR AR

TRERRE
EESBE LA

ARRMEFHESSEREE EF8
BEREREARNRAARRERIBE K
REZEHEBRBRBEAR - BHES
SHEHMARBLE AT EARNEERRERE
RFFERE BRI MNEBERERNRE -

ARRNMBEEER TREKEERTTE
EE EEERENTESTSRANKRE
KB -

ExgeakBREARSHEER
HEe-_Z_-_N&F+_-_A=+—HItHHKF
B EFeBTAREE UEE(HF
BR)EHEIMERAEEEZTE -¥FE -
FEEERKRNRE (BF) -

TIRBEEN T _NFLEEFEE

E L SN R
Board meeting General meeting
attendance/ attendance/
Number of Number of
Meetings Meetings
Exees BRRXE
HERE/ HERE/
SERY ERERY
5/5 171
4f5 171
5/5 171
5/5 171
4f5 171
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Directors’ continuous training and development
Directors’ training is an ongoing process. During the year,
Directors are provided with updates on the Company’s
performance, position and prospects regularly to enable the
Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties.
In addition, all Directors are encouraged to participate in
continuous professional development (the “CPD") to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

During the year, all Directors had participated in the CPD by
reading materials and/or attending training courses, seminars
or workshops organized by professional bodies on corporate
governance or updates on laws, rules and regulations relating
to the roles, functions and duties of a Director.

The individual record of each Director who received training for
the year is summarized as follows:

EFHEEINIRER
EERJBRERE -FAN EFEHE
RUARFERR - MARAZOEHFER
NEE=e BB RRESNETHERE
AN RABBBAAEST2EBFERR
BR(FEZEXER]) UNERYEHE
MBI BARRSEABERER KR
DemBLBEA THESEFLER:

FA - 2REZEBHEBHELEERX
E%i%%@ Bee B AERER KA
FOERBHEANM K R KL M FE%E

BBAGNEIRE AT wES
HESEEEER

RAFEEZFINZESFOEALEEMR
R

Course/Seminar/
Workshop
organized by
Professional

Directors Bodies Reading materials

MEXERBAAN

RE Mg/

2 BE k- B &M R
Executive Directors HITES
Wang Tao TE 4
Yu Yat Chi (promoted on 1 February 2024) REFE(RZTE-_MF-_A-BEEH) 4
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHTES
Lee Yim Wah =3 Ec v
Chow Yee Ting B#&E /
Yeung Man Sun 57k /
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE FEEESTHAE
The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are T/FHE{THAHMNBEBEMED - THEH

segregated. The primary role of the Chairman is to provide
leadership for the Board and to ensure that it works effectively
in discharging its responsibilities. The Chief Executive Officer
is responsible for the day-to-day management of the Group's
business. The Group is still seeking replacement for the above
two position.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All non-executive Directors are appointed for a term of 2 years
and are subject to rotational retirement and re-election in
accordance with the articles of association of the Company.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Independent Non-executive Directors play a significant
role in the Board as they bring an impartial view on the Group’s
strategies, performance and control, as well as ensure that the
interests of all shareholders are considered. All Independent
Non-executive Directors possess appropriate academic,
professional qualifications or related financial management
experience. None of the Independent Non-executive Directors
held any other offices in the Company or any of its subsidiaries
or is interested in any shares of the Company.

In order to ensure that independent views and input of the
Independent Non-executive Directors are made available to the
Board, the Nomination Committee and the Board are committed
to assess the Directors’ independence annually with regards to
all relevant factors related to the Independent Non-executive
Directors including the following:

e required character, integrity, expertise, experience and
stability to fulfill their roles;

° time commitment and attention to the Company’s affairs;

e firm commitment to their independent roles and to the
Board;

e declaration of conflict of interest in their roles as
Independent Non-executive Directors;

e no involvement in the daily management of the Company
nor in any relationship or circumstances which would
affect the exercise of their independent judgement; and

e the Chairman meets with the Independent Non-executive
Directors regularly without the presence of the executive
Directors

The Company has received from each Independent Non-
executive director an annual confirmation of his independence,
and the Company considers them to be independent in
accordance with the criteria set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees to discharge the
Board functions. The respective roles, responsibilities and
activities of each of the Board committees are set out below:

Audit Committee

The primary duties of the audit committee are to ensure (i) the
reliability and integrity of the financial reporting of the Group;
(ii) that effective risk management and internal control systems
are functioning within the Group; and [(iii) an appropriate
relationship is maintained with the external auditor. The
terms of reference of the audit committee are available on the
Company’s website.

The committee composition and the attendance record of each
of the committee members during the year is as follows:

Directors

EE

Independent Non-executive Directors BUFYTES
Yeung Man Sun [Committee Chairman) Bhk(ZE21E)
Lee Yim Wah FHE

Chow Yee Ting A& 5

During the year, the audit committee reviewed the
remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor,
reviewed the annual results for 2023, and half-yearly results for
2024 and reviewed the risk management and internal control
systems.

Nomination Committee

The primary duties of the nomination committee are to
(i) determine the policy, procedures and criteria for the
nomination of directors, (ii) review the structure, size,
composition and diversity of the Board, (iii] identify individuals
suitably qualified to become board members, [(iv] assess the
independence of INEDs, (v)] make recommendations to the
Board on the appointment or re-appointment of directors and
(vi) monitor the implementation of the board diversity policy.
The terms of reference of the nomination committee are
available on the Company’s website.
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The committee composition and the attendance record of each
of the committee members during the year is as follows:

Directors

EE

Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHTES
Yeung Man Sun [Committee Chairman)] Bhik(ZE2ZE)
Lee Yim Wah FHE

Chow Yee Ting A

During the year, the nomination committee reviewed the
structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board,
assessed the independence of all INEDs and reviewed the
retirement of Directors by rotation and the re-election of the
retiring Directors.

Nomination Policy

The nomination committee will assess the candidate or
incumbent on criteria such as integrity, experience, skill and
ability to commit time and effort to carry out the duties and
responsibilities. The recommendations of the nomination
committee will then be put to the Board for decision.

Procedure for Nomination of Directors

When there is a vacancy in the Board, the nomination
committee evaluates the balance of skills, knowledge
and experience of the Board, and identifies any special
requirements for the vacancy. The nomination committee will
then identify suitable candidates and convene a nomination
committee meeting to discuss and vote on the nomination of
director(s) and make recommendation to the Board on the
candidate(s] for directorship.

Criteria for Nomination of Directors

The nomination committee will consider candidates who
possess the particular skills, experience and expertise that
will best complement the Board effectiveness at that time. In
considering the overall balance of the Board’'s composition, the
nomination committee will give due consideration to the board
diversity policy of the Company.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board adopted a board diversity policy setting out the
approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The Company
recognizes and embraces the benefits of diversity of Board
members. It endeavors to ensure that the Board had a balance
of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate
to the requirements of the Group's business. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will
be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for
the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background and professional experience. The
ultimate decision will be made upon the merits and contribution
that the selected candidates will bring to the Board. The
Company will also take into account factors based on its own
business model and specific needs from time to time.

The nomination committee reviewed the board diversity policy
and achievement of objectives and effectiveness of the board
diversity policy, and recommended the Board that the existing
Board was appropriately structured and no change was
required.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has adopted the model to delegate the
determination of the remuneration packages of individual
executive directors and senior management to the
remuneration committee. The terms of reference were last
updated on 31 January 2023 and maintain on both website
of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The committee is
responsible for formulating and recommending remuneration
policy to the Board and reviewing and making recommendations
on compensation-related issues. The terms of reference of
the remuneration committee are available on the Company’'s
website.

The committee composition and the attendance record of each
of the committee members during the year is as follows:

Directors

EE

Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHTES
Yeung Man Sun [Committee Chairman) Bhk(ZE81E)
Lee Yim Wah FHE

Chow Yee Ting A& &
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During the year, the remuneration committee reviewed the
Group’s policy and structure for the remuneration of Directors
and senior management, assessed performance of executive
Directors, reviewed and recommended to the Board the
remuneration packages of Directors and senior management
and ensured that no Director or any of his associates is involved
in deciding his own remuneration.

The remuneration committee also reviewed the proposals for
the grant of the share options under the Company’'s share
option scheme with recommendations to the Board for approval.
For the proposals for the grant of the share options to director
and managers which gives incentives for their contribution to
the growth of the Group while the grant can maximize their
benefits at the same time and to provide the Group with a more
flexible means instead of paying cash to reward, remunerate,
compensate and/or provide benefits to them.

Remuneration of Senior Management
The remuneration of the senior management whose particulars
are contained in “Biographical details of Directors and
Senior Management” of this annual report for the year ended
31 December 2024 by band is set out below:

Remuneration band (in HK$)

MEgEE (LB TEE)

Nil to 1,000,000 £ %£1,000,000

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties including:

a. To develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to
the Board;

b. To review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

c. To review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

d. To develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

e. To review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
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RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company.

The statement of the external auditor about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
“Independent Auditor’s Report” of this annual report.

During the year, the remuneration paid to the external auditor
for audit service is HK$420,000.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr Yu Tat Chi, has undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training to update his skills and knowledge in
2024.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures to convene an extraordinary general
meeting and put forward proposals at general meeting
Pursuant to article 59 of the Articles, any one or more
shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the company secretary of the Company, to require an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and
such meeting shall be held within 2 months after the deposit
of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the Board
fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for directing enquires to the Board
Shareholders may send their written enquiries to the Company,
for the attention of company secretary, by fax: (852) 2237 7227,
or mail to Unit 506, 5/F., New World Tower 1, 18 Queen’'s Road
Central, Central, Hong Kong.

MEMORANDUM AND ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

Pursuant to the Consultation Conclusions on Listing Regime
for Overseas lIssuers published by the Stock Exchange in
November 2021, the GEM Listing Rules have been amended
with effect from 1 January 2022 which requires, among others,
listed issuers to adopt a uniform set of 14 "Core Standards” for
shareholder protections for issuers.
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As such, on 15 May 2023, the Board proposes to amend the
Memorandum and Articles of Association for the purposes
of, among others, (i] bringing the Memorandum and Articles
of Association in line with amendments made to the GEM
Listing Rules and applicable laws of the Cayman Islands; and
(ii) making certain other housekeeping amendments to the
Memorandum and Articles of Association.

The proposed amendments and the proposed adoption of the
second amended and restated memorandum and articles of
association was approved by way of special resolution at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 15 May
2023. For details, please refer to the Company’s announcements
dated 5 May 2023 and 15 June 2023 and Company's circular
dated 5 May 2023.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the
nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving
the Company’s strategic objectives, ensuring that the Group
establishes and maintains appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing their
effectiveness. The systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

The Group maintains an effective internal control and
risk management system. The Company has engaged an
independent consultant performed the internal audit reviews
for the Group. The Independent consultant has recommended
an internal audit plan to the management of the Company and
the Board, and assisted the Company to review the internal
control system on certain selected processes for the year ended
31 December 2023. The management of the Company agreed on
the findings and adopted the recommendations accordingly.

The Board reviews the risk management and internal controls
annually and has through the Audit Committee and with the
assistance of the management, independent consultant and
external auditors, conducted a review of, and is satisfied with
the effectiveness and adequacy of the risk management and
internal control systems for the year ended 31 December 2023
as well as the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function.

No internal audit team has been set up during the year since
it is not cost effective in view of the small and simple size and
structure of the Group. However, the Board will continue to
review the need for one annually.
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The Group adopted a risk management framework which
comprises the following processes:

- ldentify significant risk in the Group’'s operation
environment and evaluate the impacts of those risks on the
Group’s business;

- Develop necessary measures to manage those risks; and

- Monitor and review the effectiveness of such measures.

The Group formulated the policies and procedures of risk
management and internal control as follows:

- The Group established an organisational structure
with clear operating and reporting procedures, lines of
responsibility and delegated authority;

- Each operating subsidiary maintains internal controls and
procedures appropriate to its structure;

- Relevant executive Directors and senior management have
been delegated with specific accountability for monitoring
the performance of designated business operating units;
and

- A systematic review of the financial and business processes
in order to provide management the adequacy and
effectiveness of internal controls. Where weaknesses are
identified in the system of internal controls, management
will evaluate and take necessary measures to ensure that
improvements are implemented.

The Board and the Audit committee reviewed the risk
management and internal control systems adopted by the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 and considered
that they were effective and adequate.

Dissemination of inside information

The Group has management control to ensure that any material
information which comes to the knowledge of any officers
should be promptly identified, assessed and forwarded to the
Board (if appropriate).
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Suite 609, 6/F

K(

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF SINO SPLENDID HOLDINGS
LIMITED

Central, Hong Kong
Tel: +852 2117 3613

{Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability]
OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Sino
Splendid Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 77 to
163, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards
as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") as issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”], and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.
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Key Audit Matter
BREFSTEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNEFNMEEFERES SR

Impairment assessment of accounts receivable, loan receivables and other receivables

FE W B K - M W R I EL At BB R TR 2 R 1B BT A

We identified the impairment assessment
of accounts receivable, loan receivables and
other receivables as a key audit matter due
to the involvement of significant management
judgements in evaluating the expected credit
losses ("ECL") of the Group’s accounts receivable,
loan receivables and other receivables.

AP 5 8 W AR K~ B M R N B At FE U R IR RO R (B
ﬂ%ﬂﬁﬁ& ﬁ%ﬁlklﬁﬁﬂﬁ EEERE
Y B 30 FE WUE R e B JE R IR /) TE BA(E B B 18
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As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s net accounts
receivable, loan receivables and other receivables
amounted to HK$32,727,000, HK$9,531,000
and HK$Nil, respectively. The management of
the Group estimates the amount of ECL of the
accounts receivable by using collective basis
through groupings of various accounts receivable
base on ageing analysis, for loan receivables
and other receivables the management makes
periodic individual assessment to estimate the
amount of ECL allowance based on historical credit
loss experience and settlement records, after
considering external and internal credit ratings of
the accounts receivable, loan receivables and other
receivables and their repayment history and/or past
due status and forward-looking information that is
reasonable and supportable available without undue
costs or effort.
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The Group’s management engaged an independent
qualified professional valuer to assist them to
determine the ECL of the accounts receivable, loan
recelvables and other receivables.
lﬂﬁﬁikﬁj éT%%ﬁ@%%%ﬁ
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As disclosed in Note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group recognised an
allowance for ECL amounted to HK$74,348,000,
HK$1,469,000 and HK$1,654,000 of accounts
receivable, loan receivables and other receivables
as at 31 December 2024, respectively.
ﬂ@fA%%ﬁ%W&N%ﬁﬁ»ﬁ g
+:HE+—H EEBE B f%gﬁ
Ko o Ath JE WK IE 5 Bl i 5R 74,348, 000%%5&~1,469,000
%ﬁ&é%ﬂ%%x%ﬁ%@ﬁ%%%ﬁo

72 Sino Splendid Holdings Limited

Our procedures in relation to impairment assessment
of accounts receivable, loan receivables and other
receivables included:

P FE AR R - B U S 3R K B b B W SR IB 2 BB AT 1
BPMBEITHEFBE:

e Obtaining an understanding of the key controls
on how the management estimates the ECL
allowance for accounts receivable, loan
receivables and other receivables;
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e Assessing the reasonableness in determining
i] estimated loss rate applied for the accounts
receivable, loan receivables and other
receivables, and ii) forward-looking information,
with reference to financial information of debtors
(if available), default rates and recovery rates
published by a credit rating agency, historical
default rates and settlement records of debtors,
and current economic conditions;
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e Testing the integrity of information used by
management to develop the grouping in collective
basis and to estimate the ECL allowance of
individual debtors, including accounts receivable,
loan receivables and other receivables ageing
analysis as at 31 December 2024, on a sample
basis, by comparing individual items in the
analysis with the relevant services agreements,
invoices and other supporting documents;
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e Evaluating the competence, capabilities
and objectivity of the independent qualified
professional valuer and obtaining an
understanding of their scope of work and terms
of en agement and

. 4%%4 AREEGEMOER  ELHREERE
WY AEE TR E MR R &

e Challenging the valuation technique and
reasonableness of the significant inputs used
by the management and the valuer in the
valuations based on information obtained from
the |ndependent sources.
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OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023 were audited by another auditor who
expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on 26
March 2024.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’'s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards as issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed
terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’'s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

74 Sino Splendid Holdings Limited
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within
the group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
group financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and review of the audit work
performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits
of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Kwok, Wilson Chi Shing.

Wilson & Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Kwok, Wilson Chi Shing

Practising Certificate Number: P01952
Hong Kong

31 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GEBREREMEEWER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

Year ended 31 December

BEt-A=+—BLEE

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
Notes HK$ 000 HK$ 000
M &t FET FET
Revenue S 5
Contract with customers BEEAEH 29,500 41,322
Interest under effective interest method  ZERFI LR EHE 2 F| 8 880 989
Net investment (loss) gain ®E (B1E) ba #58 (949) 2,963
Total revenue ML 29,431 45,274
Cost of sales 5 KA (24,053) (35,503
Gross profit EF 5,378 9,771
Other income Hap g A 7 - 62
Other gains and losses o W e M g5 1B 8 - 559
Impairment loss under expected BHEEBEERX T REEE
credit loss model, net of reversal (AR #EE) 9 (20,401) (11,702)
Selling and distribution expenses HE LD HFAX (942) (3,695]
Administrative expenses T HZ (8,230) (43,610)
Loss before tax bR AR 18 (24,195) (48,615)
Income tax expense FTiSHim X 10 - (456)
Loss for the year attributable to equity RRAAIEREE ARG
holders of the Company FENEBE 11 (24,195) (49,071)
Other comprehensive expense: HttzmExX:
Item that may be reclassified HETWRKEFIEZE
subsequently to profit or loss: B#E2ER:
Exchange differences arising on BREBINEBEE L
translation of foreign operations M N R (2,601) (121)
Total comprehensive expense AATEZFEAES
for the year attributable to equity FRALXHEHAXER
holders of the Company (26,796) (49,192)
Loss per share (HK cents) SRER (BWL) 15
- Basic and diluted - EARREE (16.40) (33.26)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e B IR R 3R

At 31 December 2024 R —ZE—p#E+_-H=+—H

2024 2023
—EgEFE =
Notes HK$’000 HK$ 000
Vioga FET FE T
Non-current Assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment R Sy 16 23 385
Goodwill kS 17 5,161 5,161
5,184 5,546
Current Assets REBEE
Loan receivables JE W & 3K 19 9,531 9,894
Accounts and other receivables JE U BR X Mo HL A JiE Y ZRE 20 32,727 35,853
Financial assets at fair value BARETAEBREZ
through profit or loss TREE 18 11,616 12,565
Cash and cash equivalents HekReEEY 21 6,903 21,241
60,777 79,553
Current Liabilities REBEE
Accounts and other payables JRE A< BR B R H Ath JE < BB 22 41,088 32,522
Tax liabilities HEAE 85 543
Contract liabilities aHEE 23 - 450
41,173 33,515
Net Current Assets BARBEE 19,604 46,038
Net Assets BEE 24,788 51,584
Capital and Reserves BRARFEE
Share capital [N 24 5,902 5,902
Reserves {8 25 18,886 45,682
Equity attributable to equity holders AT EEHFEAEGESR
of the Company 24,788 51,584

The consolidated financial statements on page 77 to 163 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on
31 March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

Yu Tat Chi
REX
Director

EF
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FEIBRUATALTRERES:

Wang Tao

B
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

H=

ZPFEA=

—&F =

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

AelemnEaR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 2 = F I+ =-A=+—HI FZ

2024 2023
—EC-OE —E-ZF
HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET FEr
OPERATING ACTIVITIES KEEH
Loss before tax B 25 BT B 1R (24,195) (48,615)
Adjustments for: EE
Bank interest income RATH B WA - (36)
Depreciation of property, ME HERZRENE
plant and equipment 362 658
Impairment loss under expected credit REEEEEREAXT
loss model, net of reversal WA EE (HEREE) 20,401 11,702
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME HERZBZER
equipment - 477
Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries DN SR R - (2,026)
Loss from changes in fair value of BREEARBEFABRAEZ
financial assets mandatorily SRMEECAREZYERE
measured at FVTPL - 1,025
Operating cash flows before movements & EASE B ECERESRE
in working capital (2,483) (36,815)
Decrease in inventories FERDY - 1,828
(Increase) decrease in accounts JE LS B 350 B L A e W sk IE (3500 ) R
and other receivables (16,912) 6,613
Decrease (increase) in financial assets EBARBEFABE2SREERD (M)
at FVTPL 949 (7,385)
Increase in accounts and other payables  J& < BR 3% K E th & (< FRIB 1 A0 8,566 25,491
Decrease in contract liabilities aHaER Y (450) (50)
CASH USED IN OPERATIONS REXBAARE (11,279) (10,318)
Income tax paid EATATER (458) -
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING RETBHFFACHEES TS
ACTIVITIES (11,737) (10,318)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETH
Interest received B2 U H 2 - 36
Proceed from disposal of financial assets ﬁ’i?ﬁ/&ﬁfﬁé‘f}\}%ﬁ?&z{ﬁﬁﬂ;ﬁ&z
at FVTPL P iS58 - 400
NET CASH GENERATED FROM RETBFEBREFHE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES - 436
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND RERREEEYRD FHE
CASH EQUIVALENTS (11,737) (9,882)
Cash and cash equivalents at REVNZREERREEEY
beginning of year 21,241 31,239
Effect on foreign exchange rate changes  [EX & &) & (2,601) (116)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT RERZRERAESEEY
END OF YEAR 6,903 21,241
80 Sino Splendid Holdings Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.

PEE SRR IRE

R R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

GENERAL INFORMATION

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited (the “Company”] is
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law,
Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman lIslands. The shares of the Company are listed
on GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”]). The addresses of the registered
office and principal place of business of the Company
are disclosed in the corporate information section to the
annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”]) are principally engaged in
(i) travel media operations with provision of advertising
services through the internet and travel magazines, event
organising services and magazine publication; (ii) provision
of contents and advertising services in a well known
financial magazine distributed in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC"); (iii] investment in securities; (iv) virtual
reality business; and (v) money lending business.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars ("HK$"), which is also the functional
currency of the Company.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that
are mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the Group’s annual periods beginning on
1 January 2024 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

Supplier Finance Arrangements

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

AR A

— AR
¢l%§iﬁfﬁ#ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ(f$
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO 2. FEA ] & /BB 53R & XA
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS - Continued SETER| BRI AR —1&
Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that AN 08 B 2 B A B 5 3R
are mandatorily effective for the current year - HREB G EET AR -8

82

Continued

Except as described below, the application of the
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards in the

R EXFtEIN RAFERRAEL
MBREERN ST EABITAHARE

current year has had no material impact on the Group’s B ARFE &R EFE MBI &K
financial positions and performance for the current and AR RiZEERE W BERETE O
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these BEENITEERTE-

consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to

HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current

or Non-current and related amendments to

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) [the 2020
Amendments”] and Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-
current Liabilities with Covenants [the “2022
Amendments”]

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time
in the current year.

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional
guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement
for at least twelve months from reporting date for
classification of liabilities as current or noncurrent, which:

e specify that the classification of liabilities as current
or non-current should be based on rights that are
in existence at the end of the reporting period.
Specifically, the classification should not be affected
by management intentions or expectations to settle
the liability within 12 months.

e clarify that the settlement of a liability can be a
transfer of cash, goods or services, or the entity’'s own
equity instruments to the counterparty. If a liability
has terms that could, at the option of the counterparty,
result in its settlement by the transfer of the entity’s
own equity instruments, these terms do not affect its
classification as current or non-current only if the
entity recognises the option separately as an equity
instrument applying HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation.

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS - Continued
Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that
are mandatorily effective for the current year -
Continued

Impacts on application of Amendments to

HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current

or Non-current and related amendments to

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)] [the 2020
Amendments”] and Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-
current Liabilities with Covenants (the 2022
Amendments”] - Continued

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve
months from reporting date which are conditional on
the compliance with covenants, the 2022 Amendments
specifically clarify that only covenants that an entity
is required to comply with on or before the end of the
reporting period affect the entity’s right to defer settlement
of a liability for at least twelve months after the reporting
date, even if compliance with the covenant is assessed
only after the reporting date. The 2022 Amendments also
specify that covenants with which an entity must comply
after the reporting date (i.e. future covenants] do not affect
the classification of a liability as current or non-current at
the reporting date. However, if the entity’s right to defer
settlement of a liability is subject to the entity complying
with covenants within twelve months after the reporting
period, an entity discloses information that enables users
of financial statements to understand the risk of the
liabilities becoming repayable within twelve months after
the reporting period. This would include information about
the covenants, the carrying amount of related liabilities
and facts and circumstances, if any, that indicate that the
entity may have difficulties complying with the covenants.

The application of the 2020 and 2022 Amendments has

no material impact on the classification of the Group's
liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO

HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS - Continued

(b) New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective:

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that
have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards

Amendments to the
Classification and
Measurement of Financial
Instruments?®

Contracts Referencing
Nature-dependent Electricity®

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture'

Annual Improvements to
HKFRS Accounting Standards

- Volume 113

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure
in Financial Statements*
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public

Accountability: Disclosures*

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date
to be determined.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2025.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2026.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2027.

Except as described below, the directors of the
Company anticipate that the application of all new
and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards will
have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.

84 Sino Splendid Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCAAL STATEMENTS

e B ERER R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS - Continued

(b) New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting

B FR IR %

Standards in issue but not yet effective: -
Continued

(il HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in

Financial Statements

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure
in Financial Statements, which sets out
requirements on presentation and disclosures
in financial statements, will replace HKAS 1
Presentation of Financial Statements. This new
HKFRS Accounting Standard, while carrying
forward many of the requirements in HKAS
1, introduces new requirements to present
specified categories and defined subtotals in the
statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures
on management-defined performance measures
in the notes to the financial statements and
improve aggregation and disaggregation of
information to be disclosed in the financial
statements. In addition, some HKAS 1 paragraphs
have been moved to HKAS 8 and HKFRS 7. Minor
amendments to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows
and HKAS 33 Earnings per Share are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards,
will be effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2027, with early application
permitted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

86

3.1

3.2

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards as issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose of
preparation of the consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material if such information
is reasonably expected to influence decisions made by
primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM
of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) and
by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Material accounting policy information

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.
Control is achieved when the Company:

- has power over the investee;

- is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

- has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control
the subsidiary.

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -
Continued
3.2 Material accounting policy information -

PEE SRR IRE

Continued

Basis of consolidation - Continued

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if
this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies in line with the Group’s accounting
policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group's interests in existing
subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the
assets and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-
controlling interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated
as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair
value of the consideration received and the fair value
of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount
of the assets [including goodwilll, and liabilities
of the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the
Company. All amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
HKFRS Accounting Standards). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the
date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value
on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #%Z —F —pIF+— =

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -

88

Continued

T—HIFFE

3.2 Material accounting policy information -

Continued

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition
of the business (see the accounting policy above] less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units
(or group of cash-generating units] that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, which
represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently when
there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period,
the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units] to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment before the end of that reporting period.
If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill and then
to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or group of
cash-generating units).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -
Continued

3.2 Material accounting policy information -

PEE SRR IRE

Continued

Revenue from contracts with customers
Information about the Group’s accounting policies
relating to revenue from contracts with customers is
provided in Note 5.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains
a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at
inception of the contract. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the
contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of office equipment that
have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. Lease payments on short-term leases are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at
fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date
when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in
a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

90

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -
Continued

3.2 Material accounting policy information -

Continued

Foreign currencies - Continued

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group’s operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income
and expenses items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during that period, in which
case the exchange rates at the date of transactions
are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of translation
reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group's entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation], all of the
exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect
of that operation attributable to the owners of the
Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable
assets acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign
operation are treated as assets and liabilities of
that foreign operation and translated at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in
other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -
Continued

3.2 Material accounting policy information -

PEE SRR IRE

Continued

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement
benefit plans are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

For defined benefit retirement benefit plans including
the Long Service Payment ("LSP”) under the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance, the cost of providing
benefits is determined using the projected unit credit
method, with actuarial valuations being carried
out at the end of each annual reporting period. In
determining the present value of the Group’s defined
benefit obligations and the related current service
cost and, where applicable, past service cost, the
Group attributes benefit to periods of service under
the plan’s benefit formula. However, if an employee’s
service in later years will lead to a materially higher
level of benefit than earlier years, the Group attributes
the benefit on a straight-line basis from:

(a) the date when service by the employee first leads
to benefits under the plan (whether or not the
benefits are conditional on further service] until

(b) the date when further service by the employee
will lead to no material amount of further benefits
under the plan, other than from further salary
increases.

Remeasurement, comprising actuarial gains and
losses, the effect of the changes to the asset ceiling
(if applicable) and the return on plan assets (excluding
interest], is reflected immediately in the consolidated
statement of financial position with a charge or
credit recognised in other comprehensive income
in the period in which they occur. Remeasurement
recognised in other comprehensive income is reflected
immediately in retained earnings and will not be
reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. MEVBWMRZERHEEEK
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL EETHREEN &
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -

Continued

3.2 Material accounting policy information - 32 EE G HMEER &
Continued
Employee benefits — Continued 1E S 157 — &
Retirement benefit costs — Continued RIKAE *UWK—%T
Past service cost is recognised in profit or loss in BE R AR NS RT S8R
the period of a plan amendment or curtailment and HEAEBRRPBER TREFER

BRAEERR EETBERS
RAREERER BRELH
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ERENENIRE)

a gain or loss on settlement is recognised when
settlement occurs. When determining past service
cost, or a gain or loss on settlement, an entity shall
remeasure the net defined benefit liability or asset
using the current fair value of plan assets and current
actuarial assumptions, reflecting the benefits offered
under the plan and the plan assets before and after
the plan amendment, curtailment or settlement,
without considering the effect of asset ceiling [i.e. the
present value of any economic benefits available in the
form of refunds from the plan or reductions in future
contributions to the plan).

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount
rate at the beginning of the period to the net defined
benefit liability or asset. However, if the Group
remeasures the net defined benefit liability or asset
before plan amendment, curtailment or settlement,
the Group determines net interest for the remainder of
the annual reporting period after the plan amendment,
curtailment or settlement using the benefits offered
under the plan and the plan assets after the plan
amendment, curtailment or settlement and the
discount rate used to remeasure such net defined
benefit liability or asset, taking into account any
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changes in the net defined benefit liability or asset FEBEREEFBNETME
during the period resulting from contributions or
benefit payments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #%Z —F —pIF+ = H=

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -
Continued

3.2 Material accounting policy information -

B FR IR %

Continued

Employee benefits - Continued

Retirement benefit costs - Continued

Defined benefit costs are categorised as follows:

e service cost [including current service cost,
past service cost, as well as gains and losses on
curtailments and settlements);

. net interest expense or income; and
e remeasurement.

The retirement benefit obligation recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position
represents the actual deficit or surplus in the Group’s
defined benefit plans. Any surplus resulting from
this calculation is limited to the present value of any
economic benefits available in the form of refunds
from the plans or reductions in future contributions to
the plans.

Discretionary contributions made by employees or
third parties reduce service cost upon payment of
these contributions to the plan.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. MEMBMKR I MBELER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ZETREREN &
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -

Continued

3.2 Material accounting policy information - 32 EE G HMEER &
Continued
Employee benefits — Continued 1E S 157 — &
Retirement benefit costs — Continued RIKAE *UWK—Z“

94

When the formal terms of the plans specify that there
will be contributions from employees or third parties,
the accounting depends on whether the contributions
are linked to service, as follows:

e If the contributions are not linked to services (for
example contributions are required to reduce
a deficit arising from losses on plan assets or
from actuarial losses)], they are reflected in the
remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability
or asset.

. If contributions are linked to services, they reduce
service costs. For the amount of contribution that
is dependent on the number of years of service,
the Group reduces service cost by attributing
the contributions to periods of service using the
attribution method required by HKAS 19.70 for
the gross benefits (i.e. either using the plan’s
contribution formula or on a straight-line basis).
For the amount of contribution that is independent
of the number of years of service, the Group
reduces service cost in the period in which the
related service is rendered.

For LSP obligation, the Group accounts for the
employer Mandatory Provident Fund ("MPF"]
contributions expected to be offset as a deemed
employee contribution towards the LSP obligation
in terms of HKAS 19.93(a) and it is measured on a
net basis. The estimated amount of LSP obligation is
determined after deducting the negative service cost
arising from the accrued benefits (being projected
and attributed to periods of service) derived from the
Group’'s MPF contributions that have been vested with
employees and would be used to offset the employee’s
LSP benefits, which are deemed to be contributions
from the relevant employees.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -
Continued

3.2 Material accounting policy information -

PEE SRR IRE

Continued

Employee benefits - Continued

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised as
an expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits
the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave
and sick leave) after deducting any amount already
paid.

Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees
and others providing similar services are measured
at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant
date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the grant date without
taking into consideration all non-market vesting
conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group's estimate
of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with
a corresponding increase in equity (share option
reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the
Group revises its estimate of the number of equity
instruments expected to vest based on assessment
of all relevant non-market vesting conditions. The
impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any,
is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative
expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will be
transferred to share capital and share premium. When
the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or
are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will be
transferred to accumulated losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. MEVBWMRZERHEEEK
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL EETHREEN &
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -

Continued

3.2 Material accounting policy information - 32 EE G HMEER &
Continued
Taxation ﬁ%ﬂg
Income tax expense represents the sum of current and SHRAXEEHEMNTIERE

96

deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit/(loss)
before tax because of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities
in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit and at the time of the
transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences. In addition, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of
goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -
Continued

3.2 Material accounting policy information -

PEE SRR IRE

Continued

Taxation - Continued

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period
in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

98

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -
Continued

3.2 Material accounting policy information -

Continued

Taxation - Continued

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they
relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable entity
by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax
are also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity respectively.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that
are held for use in the production or supply of goods
or services, or for administrative purposes. Property,
plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the
cost of assets less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -
Continued

3.2 Material accounting policy information -

PEE SRR IRE

Continued

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant
and equipment to determine whether there is
any indication that these assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss (if any].

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment are estimated individually. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be established. The recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or
group of cash-generating units to which the corporate
asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying
amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group
of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a
cash-generating unit] for which the estimates of future
cash flows have not been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. MAEMBHRRIEREER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL EEHHEKER -8
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -

Continued

3.2 Material accounting policy information - 32 EE G HMEER &
Continued
Impairment of property, plant and equipment MF ek (E5EE

100

other than goodwill - Continued

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or
a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group
compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-
generating units, including the carrying amounts of
the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of cash-generating units,
with the recoverable amount of the group of cash-
generating units. In allocating the impairment loss,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable] and
then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the
group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount
of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its
fair value less costs of disposal [(if measurable), its
value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of
the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other
assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating
units. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generating units] is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating
units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss
is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -
Continued

3.2 Material accounting policy information -

PEE SRR IRE

Continued

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the
consolidated statement of financial position include:

(a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and
demand deposits, excluding bank balances that
are subject to regulatory restrictions that result in
such balances no longer meeting the definition of
cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose
of meeting short-term cash commitments rather
than for investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash
and cash equivalents as defined above.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result
of a past event, it is probable that the Group will
be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time
value of money is material.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

102

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -
Continued

3.2 Material accounting policy information -

Continued

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way
purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for account receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are
initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
("FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial
asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Interest income which are derived from the Group's
ordinary course of business are presented as revenue.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -

Continued

3.2 Material accounting policy information -

Continued

Financial instruments — Continued

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of

financial assets

PEE SRR IRE

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash
flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at FVTPL. A financial asset is held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at
the amortised cost as measured at FVTPL if doing
so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -
Continued
3.2 Material accounting policy information -
Continued
Financial instruments — Continued
Financial assets - Continued
Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets - Continued

104

(i)

(ii)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income
is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below]).
For financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from
the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves
so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost are measured
at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period, with
any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit
or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit
or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned
on the financial asset and is included in the “net
investment loss (gain)” line item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -
Continued

3.2 Material accounting policy information -

PEE SRR IRE

Continued

Financial instruments - Continued

Financial assets - Continued

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss ("ECL") model on financial assets
(including accounts and other receivables, loan
receivables and bank balances) which are subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The
amount of ECL is updated at the end of each reporting
period to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
(“12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessments are done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the end of the reporting date as well as the forecast of
future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for accounts
receivable.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases
in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -
Continued
3.2 Material accounting policy information -
Continued
Financial instruments — Continued
Financial assets - Continued
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 - Continued

106

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

e significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

e existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

e an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -
Continued

3.2 Material accounting policy information -

PEE SRR IRE

Continued

Financial instruments — Continued

Financial assets - Continued

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 - Continued

(i) Significant increase in credit risk - Continued
Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a debt instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition
if the debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk
if (i) it has a low risk of default, (ii) the borrower
has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term and (iii)
adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to
fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The
Group considers a debt instrument to have low
credit risk when it has an internal or external
credit rating of “investment grade” as per globally
understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes
past due.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -
Continued
3.2 Material accounting policy information -
Continued
Financial instruments — Continued
Financial assets - Continued
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 - Continued

108

(ii)

(iii)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion
is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about
the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -
Continued
3.2 Material accounting policy information -

Continued

Financial instruments - Continued

Financial assets — Continued

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 - Continued

PEE SRR IRE

(iv] Write-off policy

(v)

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty
is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, for example,
when the counterparty has been placed under
liguidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of accounts receivable,
when the amounts are over one year past due,
whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written
off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group's recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or
loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e.
the magnitude of the loss if there is a default]
and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights. The Group uses
a practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade
receivables using simplified approach taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience
and forward looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -
Continued

3.2 Material accounting policy information -

110

Continued

Financial instruments — Continued
Financial assets - Continued

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 - Continued

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL - Continued

Lifetime ECL for certain accounts receivable
are considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and relevant
credit information such as forward looking
macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

- Past-due status;

- Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

- External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of accounts receivable, loan receivables
and other receivables where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance
account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -
Continued

3.2 Material accounting policy information -

PEE SRR IRE

Continued

Financial instruments — Continued

Financial assets - Continued

Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are
denominated in a foreign currency is determined in
that foreign currency and translated at the spot rate at
the end of each reporting period. Specifically:

e For financial assets measured at amortised
cost that are not part of a designated hedging
relationship, exchange differences are recognised
in profit or loss in the ‘Other gains and losses’ line
item (note 8] as part of the net foreign exchange
gains/(losses);

e For financial assets measured at FVTPL that are
not part of a designated hedging relationship,
exchange differences are recognised in profit or
loss in the 'Other gains and losses’ line item as
part of the gain/(loss) from changes in fair value
of financial assets (note 8);

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

112

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -
Continued

3.2 Material accounting policy information -

Continued

Financial instruments - Continued

Financial liabilities and equity - Continued

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Perpetual instruments, which include no contractual
obligation for the Group to deliver cash or other
financial assets or the Group has the sole discretion
to defer payment of distribution and redemption of
principal amount indefinitely are classified as equity
instruments.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments
is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase,
sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own
equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method or
at FVTPL.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -
Continued

3.2 Material accounting policy information -

PEE SRR IRE

Continued

Financial instruments - Continued

Financial liabilities and equity - Continued

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including accounts and other
payables are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.

Foreign exchange gains and losses

For financial liabilities that are denominated in a
foreign currency and are measured at amortised
cost at the end of each reporting period, the foreign
exchange gains and losses are determined based on
the amortised cost of the instruments. These foreign
exchange gains and losses are recognised in the ‘Other
gains and losses’ line item in profit or loss (note 8) as
part of net foreign exchange gains/(losses] for financial
liabilities that are not part of a designated hedging
relationship. For those which are designated as a
hedging instrument for a hedge of foreign currency
risk, foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in a
separate component of equity.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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4.

114

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and underlying assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period that may have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year.

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires
an estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated, which is the higher of
the value in use or fair value less costs of disposal. The
value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate
the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-
generating unit (or a group of cash-generating units) and
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value. Where the actual future cash flows are less than
expected, or change in facts and circumstances which
results in downward revision of future cash flows or
upward revision of discount rate, a material impairment
loss or further impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of goodwill
is HK$5,161,000 (2023: HK$5,161,000) (net of accumulated
impairment loss of HK$Nil (2023: HK$Nil]). Details of the
recoverable amount calculation are disclosed in note 17.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 4. 15;#75@& Mz EERR—
- Continued =E
Provision of ECL for accounts receivable, loan JE W BR 3K B W B R % EL At FE U
receivables, and other receivables RIEZ BRI EEREERE
The Group uses the collective basis in estimating ECL AEBFASEELETFHEKERD
on accounts receivable. The provision rates are based on EHEEER - BEXDERERE
aging of debtors/others as groupings of various debtors AR R R BB BRER - W AT
taking into consideration the Group’s historical default EREAEERERAOXLBATLEED
rates and forward-looking information that is reasonable WBERARRAE NN EEHEIEA 5
and supportable available without undue costs or effort. AIEMEN - REBEAH AEE
At every reporting date, the historical observed default SENTHBABERINEN XK j'l:
rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking ZEABEMERNNEF BKE N
information are considered. Loan receivables and other Hh fE % IgﬁﬁLT‘ﬁEH)ﬂ;f)@ﬁ@
receivables are assessed for ECL individually. The provision AL -TEHEEEBREH M ED
of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. BRHR-
The information about the ECL and the Group's accounts ERBEHREEBEERAEEEWERER
receivable, loan receivables and other receivables are & WE R N A FE I FRIE A B R BT
disclosed in Note 29. FT29H FR o
REVENUE 5. EXH
(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with il BEFEHREDE
customers
2024 2023
—E-WE —E-=F
HK$°000 HK$ 000
FET T
Types of goods or services ERDEKER
Travel media e % 45 28 500 2,400
Financial magazine and other B AR TE M B
media services 1582 AR 7% 29,000 38,370
Virtual reality ERRE - 552
29,500 41,322
Timing of revenue recognition: Wz FE SRR A
A point in time PO — B BE 29,500 41,322
AR AT —EINEFHR 115



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

5. REVENUE - Continued 5. BEHE—&
(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with il BEFPalkEsB—&

customers - Continued
Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from

TXEIEFANBEEDEHE

116

(ii)

contracts with customers with the amounts disclosed BT E S BEER-
in the segment information.
2024 2023
—E_MF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Travel media Tk 5% 1 £ 500 2,400
Financial magazine and other media B/ A% 5 5% & H b 15 88 AR 7%5
services 29,000 38,370
Virtual reality ERIRE - 552
Revenue from contracts with EEEHKE
customers 29,500 41,322
Interest under effective interest BERNEETENF B
method 880 989
Total 4Bt 30,380 42,311

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers and revenue recognition policies
Revenue from travel media

Revenue from travel media includes income from
management fees, registration and exhibitor fees
on various events and conferences organised by the
Group. The revenue was recognised upon completion of
the events and conferences. Income from the provision
of services is recognised upon the provision of the
relevant services rendered and a full payment received
in advance is normally required before the services
rendered which is classified as contract liabilities and
the remaining performance obligations are expected to
recognised as revenue within a year.

Revenue from financial magazine and other
media services

Revenue from service fee income from the provision
of contents and advertising services in multiple well-
known financial magazine was distributed in the PRC
and other media services. Income from the provision
of services is recognised upon the provision of the
relevant services rendered.

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited

(ii)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

5. REVENUE - Continued

(i) Performance obligations for contracts with
customers and revenue recognition policies -
Continued
Revenue from virtual reality business
Income from the provision of services and sales
of good is recognised at a point in time upon the
provision of the relevant services rendered and when
control of the goods has been transferred, being the
goods have been delivered to the customers.

(iii) Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with
customers
The Group has no remaining (unsatisfied or
partially unsatisfied] performance obligations as at
31 December 2024 and 2023.

(iv] Net investment (loss]) gain

Changes in fair value of financial

assets at FVTPL ERMEERR

5. HERB &
(i) EFEAETEHNEERK
mﬁE [ 5( _:znmj

B #ET B R W
RIS LIHES MmO RAREE
HARRG R EmiEGl e BE
(MEMERNTEF)HEE
MR -

i) "REEFEPFPANBTRENE
T2R5EE

RZEBE-_NMER T -_=ZF+—
B=+—8 &A&EEIEHT (K
BITRED REIT)BHEL-

(iv] & (B518) Was 5 58

2024 2023

—E-NE —E-=F

HK$’000 HK$ 000

F#E T F#ET

b=k (949) 2,963

6. OPERATING SEGMENTS

Information reported to the executive directors, being
the CODM, for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance focuses on types of
goods or services delivered or provided.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments under HKFRS
8 Operating Segments are as follows:

(i) Travel media operations with provision of advertising
services through the internet and travel magazines,
event organising services and magazine publication
(“Travel Media Business”);

(i) Provision of contents and advertising services in a
well-known financial magazines distributed in the PRC
(“Financial Magazine and Other Media Business”);

(iii) Investment in securities (“Securities Investment”);

(iv) Virtual reality business (the “Virtual Reality”); and

(v) Money lending business ("Money Lending”).

PEERITRIERAR AR

6 . 43R AL )\)\ aN _LB

Wﬁﬁnﬁ&“%%ﬁ%ﬁﬁm'ﬁ
NTES(MFELLERRE)ER
MERERRIIRMRIRENE S

VEOn2
AR 75 KRB

Hi2 RIBER BB REERIES
%)Ef%‘“*éﬁﬁlﬂ 7R SR B #) Rl 0 #B
R

i) FEEBANIKEGIREES
TERE 2 IE SRS &R
MR ZIREERE R ([ RS
¥7%]):

m]ﬁy% Ah B 31T 2 AR B A4S R

WIRHEABRMNEESEERS ([8F
%% S ARG | )
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 2 = F I+ =-A=+—HI FZ

6. OPERATING SEGMENTS - Continued 6. EEDE—1E
Segment revenues and results 7 EB R K K AR
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and REE 2z Wam REBRAMED S
results by reportable segments: Mo
For the year ended 31 December 2024 BEZ-_Z_NFE+-A=t+—HL#TF
E
Financial
Travel Magazine and
Media Other Media  Securities Money Virtual
Business Business Investment Lending Reality Total

REHRE  HMERER
%% HEExK ZBrrE BE ERAR )

HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET FET FET

Segment revenue from external  REINBEF 2
customers 2 E W 500 29,000 - 880 - 30,380
Net investment loss REBRFE - - (949) - - (949)
Total Bt 500 29,000 (949) 880 - 29,431
Segment loss DEERE (125) (17,383) (1,048) (1,246) (6)  (19,808)
Unallocated corporate expenses KA E ¥R S (4,387)
Loss before tax BREAIEE (24,195)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ERER R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

6. OPERATING SEGMENTS - Continued

L ;-'3: yaN=] W
Segment revenues and results - Continued 7 #B &E&%%—f

For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-_F-_=Ff+=-H=+—HL#F
E
Financial
Travel Magazine and
Media  Other Media  Securities Money Virtual
Business Business Investment Lending Reality Total
mEKE AR
% Hif i%fﬂ FHRE M ERRE st
HK$ 000 HK$000 — HK$'000 — HK$000  HK$000  HK$ 000
FET TET FET FET TET FET
Segment revenue from external REMBER 25l
customers 2,400 38,370 - 989 552 42,311
Net investment gain BREWEFE - - 2,963 - - 2,963
Total @t 2,400 38,370 2,963 989 552 45,274
Segment (loss) profit A (BE)EF (600) (25,912 2,886 (1,001) 873 (23,754)
Other income Hi A 62
Other gains and losses Hipfim REE 559
Unallocated corporate expenses APEEERT (25,482)
Loss before tax PR AT B 1R (48,615)
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the K o EB R & BT BROR B M SRS FT Al Y

same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note
3. Segment loss represents the loss from each segment
without allocation of other income, other gains and losses,
central administration costs and directors” emoluments.
This is the measure reported to the CODM for the purposes
of resource allocation and performance assessment.

PEERITRIERAR AR

AEBEAERER *HH“\*BEESTETHE
AoREMBA - Hfpldeas M EE-
RFRITBRAREZEMEHNBER T %
DEPEIE W IR EIR D B M RIRFF
HENMAEREERRE BN

sEEo.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

OPERATING SEGMENTS - Continued 6. ,&Eﬁ\ﬁ — 8
Segment assets and liabilities PHMEEREE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and AEBEERBREEAMED M
liabilities by reportable segments: W
2024 2023
—EomE  —T-=fF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FETT
Segment assets PEEE
Travel Media Business IR P2 IR B 7% 1,170 670
Financial Magazine and B RETE R E M B X RS
Other Media Business 36,719 55,741
Securities Investment BHEKE 11,738 15,733
Money Lending & 9,531 11,482
Virtual Reality ERIRE 5 20
Total reportable segment assets AREDBEERTE 59,163 83,646
Unallocated Ao 6,798 1,453
Consolidated assets HaBE 65,961 85,099
Segment liabilities PEEE
Travel Media Business e 35 1% 68 ¥ 75 - -
Financial Magazine and Other Media  Bf A% 5 i &2 H fth 5 58 %75
Business 39,999 30,373
Securities Investment BHIEE - -
Money Lending & - 205
Virtual Reality EBRIRE 236 860
Total reportable segment liabilities AMREDEAGEES 40,235 31,438
Unallocated ROE 938 2,077
Consolidated liabilities FeEAaE 41,173 33,515

RERDBERALRR D HBELRER

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments:

BANEZEXEE (Z2EHE
ANBRITEBREBAR) I FTE
BEODREREDEH K

e all assets are allocated to operating segments other
than unallocated corporate assets (including primarily
unallocated bank balance and cash); and

BARNEZEXREIN FBEA
BEHDEERLENEL -

e all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other o
than unallocated corporate liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ERER R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 2 = F ZF+=-A=+—HI FZ

6. OPERATING SEGMENTS - Continued Ky BB — 4B
Other segment information Hth 5 HE R
For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_Z-_NMF+-A=+—HLHF
E
Financial
Magazine and
Travel Media  Other Media Securities Money Virtual
Business Business  Investment Lending Reality  Unallocated Total
REFE HERRR
£% HEEREY FERE B ERBE KA b
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FEz FET 223 FEz FET TEz
Amounts included in the measure of AR BERT S FEE
segment profit or loss or segment assets: EfEE’U%Iﬁ@%E-
Depreciation ik - - - (360) (2) - (362)
Impairment losses on accounts RERTRAZ BYERN
receivable recognised in profit or loss HEEE - 19,275) - - - - 19,275)
Impairment losses on loan receivables RERTRRER
recognised in profit or loss EHREER - - - (363) - - (363)
Impairment losses on other receivables ~ REAZFHEZZEH
recognised in profit or loss ENFERBER - (763) - - - - 763)
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_T_=F+-_A=+—HIL#F
E
Financial
Magazine and
Travel Media  Other Media Securities Money Virtual
Business Business  Investment Lending Reality  Unallocated Total
RESE  BER
£% EIW%’QE%F% EHRE & ERAE APE @t
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET FET FET FET FET
Amounts included in the measure of AR BERT S FEE
segment profit or loss or segment assets: T EHMEFESE:
Depreciation ik - - (20) (466) (172) - 658)
Impairment losses on accounts RERTERER
receivable recognised in profit or loss BHRBER - (15,060) - - - - (15,060)
Impairment losses on loan receivables RERTREER
reversed in profit or loss EHREER - - - 163 - - 163
Impairment losses on other receivables ~ RE&ET (EA)BEZEMH
(recognised) reversed in profit or loss EUFEREER - (36) - - 3,231 - 3,195
Amounts regularly provided to the EHRFELERREER
chief operating decision marker but EBRFADBERL
not included in the measure of AREEHEMNFE:
segment profit or loss or segment assets:
Interest income FEKA - - - - - 3 36

PEERITRIERAR AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

122

OPERATING SEGMENTS - Continued
Geographic information

The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong and the
PRC.

Information about the Group’'s revenue from continuing
operations from external customers is presented based
on the location of the operations. Information about the
Group’'s non-current assets is presented based on the
geographical location of the assets.

6.

gans—&
b [ A
AEBEBAAEERFE:

BRASERELEXBKKAINGEE
PzWahERRBELEMEZ2T -
BRASEERPDEENENREE
EMEHLZ7)-

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=t—BLEE

2024 2023
—ENF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FAET
Revenue from external customers REMBEFE 2 WS
Hong Kong B 30,380 41,759
The PRC e - 552
30,380 42,311
At 31 December
R+=-—HA=+—H
2024 2023
—ECOE —E-=4F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Non-current assets kRBEE
Hong Kong e 5,184 5,544
The PRC i - 2
5,184 5,546
Sino Splendid Holdings Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B ERER R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

6. OPERATING SEGMENTS - Continued 6. EDE—E
Geographic information - Continued [ & K — 8
Information about major customers FERPZEH
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years EAREEEEEXEEB10%H P R AE
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are JEFEERIMEEBENAT
as follows:

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=t—BLEE

2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$ 000

FET FET

Customer A' ZEPA 3,000 N/A “FiE 2

Customer B’ =FB N/A T iE 2 6,000
' Revenue from Financial Magazine and Other Media Business T ORE B REGE RA M EE AU
2 Revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total revenue of 2 WREAEBEEREREAEE

the Group for the corresponding reporting period. P E10% °
7. OTHER INCOME 7. HAWA
Year ended 31 December

BE+-HA=1+—HLEE

2024 2023

—E-E T =%

HK$’000 HK$ 000

FET FET

Bank interest income |ITHF B A - 36

Others E A - 26

- 62

PEERITRIERAR AR i e



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

8. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 8. Hiblhzs KiEiE

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=t+-ALFE

2024 2023
—E-IMEF —ET_=F
HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries [f{/B 2R AlFE s &l 2 Wk - 2,026
Net foreign exchange gains b 5 Wz 5 7R - 35
Loss from changes in fair value BERAREFTAEBRZ
of financial assets mandatorily TRMEEL AABEEHEE
measured at FVTPL - (1,025)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and H &% « #2322 & 2 E5 18
equipment - (477)
- 559
9. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED 9. BHIEEEBEBEXTRERS
CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET OF REVERSAL B kAL
Year ended 31 December
BEt+t-A=1+—HLEE
2024 2023
—E-IEF —ET_=F
HK$000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Impairment losses recognised AT RIAEER (@)
(reversed) on: ZOREEE
- Accounts receivable — FEUR BR 2Kk 19,275 15,060
- Loan receivables — U E R 363 (163)
- Other receivables — H b FE 5K IR 763 (3,195)
20,401 11,702
Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 29(b). B RT A 5 1B ST EE29(b) ©
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10.

PEE SRR IRE

R R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

10. TSR X

Year ended 31 December

BE+t=-A=+—-BLFE

2024 2023
—EBCoWmFE —F-=F
HK$°000 HK$ 000
FET TET
Current tax: BERRR IR

- Hong Kong —BE - -
Underprovision in prior years BEFEBRETE - 456
Income tax expense PS8 5 X - 456

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong BEEEMNETHMAG 2ERKE

Kong Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the
qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits
above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits
of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits
tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate
of 16.5%. Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the
qualifying group entity is calculated at 8.25% on the first
HK$2 million of the estimated assessable profits and at
16.5% on the estimated assessable profits above HK$2
million.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the

“EIT Law") and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law,
the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

AR A

E E 82 1) 52,000,000 7T 0% 7 5 %
8.25% i K 4 - #8152,000,000/% 7T
=0 % R 1216.5% H - R A
FEHMANERNERETEEN G
R 4 B I1R16.5% 2 B — TR R B o
Hit 6 EREBEBNRENEH
(4 5T FE SR B 0% 1 #2,000,00058 ST AY
8.25% &t & - M A 52,000,000/% JT AY
AT R R A B3Z16.5% 5T &

REFBECEMRESTHE ([REXMRE
BRI REEMETOEE G
TENB AR MEFE 2REER
25% °

=R T PIEE g 25



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE - Continued

126

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to
loss before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

10. IS —#&

REEZFEHARRGAERRE
o2 T U 35 5 B 91 B T T A5 98 2 9 BR
T

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t—BLEE

2024 2023
—BCoWmFE  —To=F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Loss before tax B B A & 18 (24,195) (48,615)
Tax at statutory tax rate of 16.5% OEE BT E16.5%
(2023: 16.5%) TEC=F:165%)
AEZHIA (3,992) (8,021)
Tax effect of income not taxable BARMBAZBBTE
for tax purpose - (495)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible NAIHB R X 2 g &
for tax purpose 756 695
Tax effect of deductible temporary RERAIMBEREZHE 2
differences not recognised M E 3,364 1,931
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERBEEBE 2 HGTE 152 5,800
Utilisation of tax losses previously B AR RERTIEEE
not recognised (280) -
Underprovision in respect of prior years @A FEEETE - 456
Effect of different tax rates of REMBDEEREEL
subsidiaries operating in MBARTRBE
other jurisdictions - - 90
Income tax expense PS8 7 X - 456

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unused
tax losses of HK$288,588,000 (2023: HK$289,362,000).
No deferred tax has been recognised in respect of
the tax losses in current reporting period due to the
unpredictability of future assessable profit streams. Such
losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible
temporary differences of approximately HK$80,425,000
(2023: HK$60,038,000). No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in relation to such deductible temporary
difference as it is not probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the deductible temporary
differences can be utilised.

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited

RMEBR AEEBBEARAHHHEIEAE
[E518288,588,000/8 )L ( =& — =4
289,362,000/ 7C) - AR HIZ FE R TR
St ) SRR B DA FERD - B AR 3R & B RS
VERHEBEEERAELERB 2%
E 1B N FEPR HR 45 HE o

REREEIR AE B A AR EE
X8 #980,425,0008 t (T - =
60,038,000/ 7T ) - R T KAl AE A JE
AR A T BRI AT R R R
Bl I SRR B % S AT R E e = 58
EENBELERBEE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eI HRAREE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

11. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 1. FAEE
Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging: FABEENBRTIEIE:

Year ended 31 December

BE+t=-A=+—-BLFE

2024 2023
—E-NEF —E-=F
HK$°000 HK$ 000
FET T
Staff costs (excluding directors’ BIA (TEE
remuneration): EEMe) -
- Salaries, allowances and benefits —He EMEEYH®
in kind 108 848
- Contributions to defined contribution —REHTENKRE
pension plans Bk A 5 47
113 895
Auditor’s remuneration = ELED B & 420 424
Depreciation of property, plant and ME HERREBITE
equipment 362 658
Cost of inventories recognised as BRAERAIZ ZFEKR
an expense - 1,200
Expenses to short-term lease %2 EAE SRR X 54 66
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2024 2 = F I+ =-A=+—HI FZ

12. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS 12. EEHr
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant BIZEGEM LB R EFE (A FF
to the GEM Listing Rules and the Hong Kong Companies B ME FAES 2HHEENOT
Ordinance, is as follows:
Salaries, Contributions
allowances to defined
and benefits ~ Share based  contribution
Fees in kind payment pension plans Total
%E{/\TA
§e 2ER WGk  BRAKSEHE
e BEWFlg  EEZAR it & @zt
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FAET FETL FET FETL
Year ended 31 December 2024 BE-Z-mE
+=A=t-H
LEE
Executive directors HiTEE
Mr. Wang Tao FEEE 120 - - - 120
Mr. Yu Tat Chi, Michael fnote (i)}~ REFL4E (H7)) - 350 - 35 385
120 350 - 35 505
Independent non-executive directors %V T TEE
Ms. Yang Shuyan /note (v)] BRELZL (W) 10 1 - - 11
Ms. Lee Yim Wah FRELL 120 - - - 120
Ms. Chow Yee Ting (note (iv)] A#&ErL (M) 160 - - - 160
Mr. Yeung Man Sun (note (vil] BT E (M5 i) 132 - - - 132
422 1 - - 423
542 351 - 35 928
Year ended 31 December 2023 BE-®z-=
—B=+-H
tEE
Executive directors HiTEF
Mr. Yang Xingan [note (/i) BERRE (i) 120 - - - 120
Mr. Wang Tao FEEE 120 - - - 120
240 - - - 240
Independent non-executive directors B FEHTEE
Ms. Wang Qingling /note (i) FERZL (M) 66 - - - 66
Ms. Yang Shuyan /note (v)) BRELT (M) 120 - - - 120
Ms. Lee Yim Wah FEBELL 120 - - - 120
Ms. Chow Yee Ting /note (iv)] B&ExL (M) 54 - - - 54
360 - - - 360
600 - - - 600
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

12. DIRECTORS EMOLUMENTS - Continued

Notes:

(i) Mr. Yu Tat Chi, Michael was appointed as an executive
director of the Company with effect from 1 February 2024.

(ii)  Mr. Yang Xingan resigned as executive director of the
Company with effect from 18 July 2023.

(i) Ms. Wang Qingling resigned as independent non-executive
director of the Company with effect from 18 July 2023.

(iv] Ms. Chow Yee Ting was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company with effect from 18 July
2023.

(v}  Ms. Yang Shuyan resigned as independent non-executive
director of the Company with effect from 1 February 2024.

(vi] Mr. Yeung Man Sun was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company with effect from
1 February 2024.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for
their services in connection with the management of the
affairs of the Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors” emoluments
shown above were for their services as directors of the
Company.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no
remuneration was paid by the Group to the directors,
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group as
compensation for loss of office.

There was no arrangement under which a director or chief
executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration
during the year.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no share options
of the Company was granted to the directors in respect of
their services provided to the Group under a share option
scheme of the Company (2023: Nil).

AR A

12. EFHWMW B

b

il REX %Eﬁééf{rﬁzﬁ AlWTTE
EE- T MF-_A—HELEM-
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(i) FE® L+ BEARD BTN
FE A-T-SHEtA+\ARE
i o

livi BEELTREERARBE LI
WTES B-_F_=FftA+N\AH
AR -

v) R LLBHEARRRIBILIFANTT
EF BT HWEF_A-HRAE
R e

i) BAREEEZTAEARRAEIE
HITES B_E_MWE_A—Hi
o

EXHRBTES M IR EEE
BARRB RANEE SRS RS
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EXFRBUIFRTES M E 5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

13. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees of the Group included
5 (2023: one director] directors for the year, whose
remunerations are included in note 12 above. Details of the
remuneration for the 2023 highest paid employees who are
neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are
as follows:

13.

hEeEaHMEER

EN AEBRLERBFMESRSE
AA(ZB-=F:—R)EF EF
B#S EX 12 — S ZF RS
FHES (LHARAEERRET
BAB)mFBEERTIMT :

Year ended 31 December

BE+-HA=+t—BLEE

2024 2023

—E-WEF —E - =4F

HK$’000 HK$ 000

FET FET

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥ & 2L R EWH R - 728
Contributions to defined contribution ATEHFERESFTEHR

pension plans - 23

- 751

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the
directors of the Company whose remuneration fell within
the following bands is as follows:

NIL to HK$1,000,000 =78 7L £1,000,00078 7T

HREARAREZNRSFHEEFMN

FIATSHRE N ABNT
2024 2023
—EINE T o=F
Number of Number of
employees employees
ES A& 1EE N2
- 4

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no
remuneration were paid by the Group to the five highest
paid employees, as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group as compensation for loss of office.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
remuneration of one senior management personnel has

BE_ZT-_NMER-_TE-_=F+=AH
—t+—BHBLEFE - AEEHERRAHA
EaiMEEINMESIERIMARSE
E kg 2 BB S ERBERRHE -

BE-_ - =F+-_A=+—HLHF
B —2aREBAEZHFMNE R L

been disclosed in the above table of the five highest paid NEBhEZ &= HMES 2 X BARK
employees. B

14. DIVIDENDS 14. Bz B
No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary RZZFEZMAF - WEAARQRTRER
shareholders of the Company during 2024, nor has any Hxﬁ/)ﬁﬁl&mi@m/ﬁﬁﬂﬁ - B

dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting
period (2023: HK$Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eI HRAREE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 2 = F ZF+=-A=+—HI FZ

15. LOSS PER SHARE 15. B E 18
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share RARHEEANELEERERNREES
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the BIORBUATEEE

following data:

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=t—BLEE

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
FET FET
Loss: B8
Loss for the year attributable to equity AR ESRERLEE
holders of the Company for the purposes &8 2 A QR Az
of calculation of basic and diluted loss BEAEBGFENEE
per share (24,195) (49,071)
‘000 ‘000
TR Tz
Number of shares: Hﬁﬁ?ﬁ( B:
Number of ordinary shares for ARTEERERK
the purposes of basis and BEEBRs ERREE
diluted loss per share 147,541 147,541
The computation of diluted loss per share does not assume R EEBRYBRRRANAGE
the exercise of Company’'s share options because the Hx%?ﬁﬁﬁ T HERZERERED
exercise price of those share options was higher than the IEESR-_TE_NFR_ZT_=F
average market price for shares for both 2024 and 2023. R HIE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

132

16. W5 - ez kil

Computer
Leasehold Furniture Office equipment Motor
improvement and fixture equipment  and software vehicles Total
BB
HENELRE BRREE BAERE RE&# RE @t
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FHET FHET FET FET FET
Cost %3
At 1 January 2023 R=ZF-=%—A—H 112 565 1,993 2,804 809 6,283
Written-off e (112) (565) (1,396) 9) - (2,082)
Exchange realignment AR - = (23) b - (19)
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=4+ZA=+-H - - 574 2,799 809 4,182
Exchange realignment X AR - - (85) (2) - (87)
At 31 December 2024 RZB-mE+=A=+-H - - 489 2,797 809 4,095
Accumulated depreciation 2T E
At 1 January 2023 RZEZ=F—Hf—H 112 563 1,333 1,938 809 4,755
Charge for the year FAZH - 2 173 483 - 658
Written-off s (112) (565) (921) (7) - (1,605)
Exchange realignment EHAE - - (11) - - (1)
At 31 December 2023 RZZ_=F+-A=+—H - - 574 2,614 809 3,797
Charge for the year FRZH - - - 362 - 362
Exchange realignment X AR - - (85) (2) - (87)
At 31 December 2024 R-ZZ-mE+=A=+-H - - 489 2,774 809 4,072
Net book value BHFE
At 31 December 2024 R-ZB-mE+=A=+-H - - - 23 - 23
At 31 December 2023 RZZEZ=F+ZA=+—H - - - 385 - 385

The above items of property, plant and equipment, after
taking into account the residual values, are depreciated on
a straight-line basis on the following bases:

Leasehold improvement

Furniture and fixture

Office equipment

Computer equipment and

software
Motor vehicles

Over the shorter of term of

the lease, or 3-5 years

5 years
5 years
3 years

5 years

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

17. GOODWILL 17. H&
2024 2023
—E-NF —E =
HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Cost (DN 5,161 5,161
Accumulated impairment losses REtREEE - -
5,161 5,161

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, goodwill of
approximately HK$5,161,000 was arising from the
acquisition of Able Professional Enterprises Limited and its
subsidiary (the “Able Group”) in 2016.

Impairment testing

For the purpose of impairment testing of goodwill arising
on the acquisition of Able Group in 2016, goodwill has
been allocated to the underlying cash-generating unit,
comprising 2 subsidiaries in the Financial Magazine and
Other Media Business segment.

The recoverable amount of the above cash-generating
unit has been determined on the basis of value in use
calculation. That value in use calculation uses cash flow
projections based on latest financial budgets approved
by the Group’s management covering a 5-year period
(2023: 5-year), a discount rate of 16.5% (2023: 16.8%)
and a growth rate of 3% (2023: 3%). This growth rate is
based on the relevant industry growth forecasts and does
not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the
relevant industry. Other key assumptions for the value in
use calculations relate to the estimation of cash inflows/
outflows which include budgeted sales and gross margin,
such estimation is based on the unit's past performance
and management’'s expectations for the market
development.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and
31 December 2023, management of the Group determines
that there is no impairment on the goodwill.

The recoverable amount is significantly above the carrying
amount of Able Group. Management believes that any
reasonably possible change in any of these assumptions
would not result in impairment.

AR A

RZEZ_WNERZTZ=F+=H
=+—H ®HE%5,161,000% Tk B
R ZZF—/NF U Able Professional
Enterprises Limited & H 1 & 2 7]
(TAble5EE ) -

AR R

R T RNFUREAle EERELR
Z2HRENANES HECOEEM
RS ELEMN a%ﬁ%% &ﬁ
i SR B8 3 7% 0 5 1O W ] B /B8

PR EeEABEMMAIKESEDIR
BEREBEEET -ZEREBR
ERAERASBEEEEM EANRE
hFEH(ZE=F AF )NETHY
BIEERNIReRETEN B FTARL
WEE165% (ZE_=F:16.8%)
MEEERABI% (ZE_=ZF:3%) -

ZEEERANEBITEMNEREA

BTEBERTENTIRAERE -
AEFREENEMEZERE SRR
&R )\//}IL (pIEBEEHEELE
MR )WEE EEHENDERNE S
EXBEVHBATRELERBY NS
BRATEH-

BE-FT-_NME+A=+T—RHk=
TR - AStoBLLRE 4
7r<k EERAEEVERE

AlESEES N Able EBENER

Be EEEM% EHQQE&WA
BRI REEHH T ERRE"

=R TPz 3



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

18. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 18. I AR HETAEBHZ 2@ E

PROFIT OR LOSS E
2024 2023
—BComE  —T-=fF
HK$’'000 HK$ 000
FET TET
Financial assets mandatorily BEEAAETARR
measured at FVTPL: EZERMEE:
Listed securities held for trading: FEEE LMES:
- Equity securities listed in Hong Kong —RNEBEB LT ZBRAE S 11,616 12,565
Analysed for reporting purpose as: MImEENDTOT
Current assets mEEE 11,616 12,565
The listed securities held for trading are classified as BEEELMESF2ERRSY REA
current as the management expects to realise these REBEEHANGRESHET-_EAR
financial assets with twelve months after the reporting PR EHEeRmEE-
period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ERER R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 2 = F ZF+=-A=+—HI FZ

19. LOAN RECEIVABLES

19. RUE &

2024 2023
—E-MF —EC=F
HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET FETT
Fixed rate loan receivables R EE R EF B2 ERE R 11,000 11,000
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEERE (1,469) (1,106)
9,531 9,894

Analysed as: ST
Current assets RENEE 9,531 9,894

The exposure of the Group’s fixed-rate loan receivables to
interest rate risks and their contractual maturity dates are
as follows:

—RBAzE—%

3 months to 1 year

AEFERZBETEMNEGFEZEKEFRE
B MX B &EE LS HE &S 0
™

2024 2023
—E_-_NF -
HK$’000 HK$ 000
F#ET FiET
9,531 9,894

The average effective interest rate was at 8% per year as at
31 December 2024 (2023: 8%].

Included in the carrying amount of loan receivables as at
31 December 2024 is accumulated impairment losses of
HK$1,469,000 (2023: HK$1,106,000). Details of impairment
assessment are set out in note 29(b).

All loan receivables are denominated in HK$.

AR A

R—ZZE-_WmMEF+_A=+—8"
HER Eﬁﬁﬁ%%(—f—zi
8%) °

WRZZE-_WNF+=—_A=+—80"
ERERZEEERERTRE
B 181,469,000 (T - =F:
1,106,000/ 7T ) < BB T 2 #F 1B &
R EE29(b) °

FrE W ERIGIAB LT E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

20.

136

ACCOUNTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

20. & YT BR 3k N H b & W 3018

2024 2023
—E-mF —To=F
HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FETT
Accounts receivable JE Y B =X 107,075 89,243
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEERE (74,348) (58,391)
32,727 30,852
Deposits and other receivables e M E A fE U FIE 1,654 5,892
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEERE (1,654) (891)
- 5,001

Total accounts and other receivables L B SR B L At Lk R IE
4a % 32,727 35,853

At 1 January 2023, accounts receivable from contracts with
customers amounted to HK$39,704,000.

The general credit period ranged from 30 days to 90 days,
extending up to 180 days for major customers.

The following is an aging analysis of accounts receivable,
net of allowance for credit losses, presented based on the
invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

R-_ZT_=F—HA—HB XBEF&
4 2 FE W BR 3K /339,704,000 T °

—RRIEEEN FI0E0H  HYTE
EPAIAEE5%%180H -

RBEHFREFZAHZFIENG
B B IR 5 B MOR 3K 2 B 5
T

2024 2023

—E-IEF —E oo

HK$'000 HK$ 000

FET FET

Within 90 days 90BN 6,297 9,022
91-120 days 91-120H 2,060 2,988
121-180 days 121-180H 4,121 6,000
Over 180 days and within 3460 days HBiB180RE T iE360H 11,039 12,842
Over 360 days HBim360H 9,210 -
32,727 30,852

As at 31 December 2024, included in the Group's
accounts receivable balance were debtors with aggregate
carrying amounts of approximately HK$6,297,000 (2023:
HK$9,022,000] which were neither past due nor impaired.

Out of the past due balances, HK$26,430,000 (2023:
HK$21,830,000) has been past due 90 days or more and is
not considered as in default.

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited

RZZE-_NWF+=A=+—8"
AEBZRERKERGESH T FREA
BE#6,297,0008 L (T - =4
9,022,0007% 7T ) 2 FE UK BR 3K K 80 HA 7
RIBE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ERER R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 2 = F ZF+=-A=+—HI FZ

20. ACCOUNTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES -
Continued

Details of impairment assessment of accounts and other
receivables are set out in note 29(b]).

21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents include short term deposits
for the purpose of meeting the Group’s short term cash
commitments, which carry interest at prevailing market
rates.

Details of impairment assessment of bank balances are set
out in note 29(b).

22. ACCOUNTS AND OTHER PAYABLES

20f%$ H b & M R TE —

21.

I\

FE%ZEE XN CE b U R IR 2 BB AT A
AHIBEN K E29(b) ©

RekeSEY
ReRALSENLFRRAEEE
MRS AEORBPER BRTDS
kst o

BRARTT AR ER SRR H
#129(b) -

22. FE AN BR Ak Ko EoAth B 5 5K IR

2024 2023

—E-NEF —E o4

HK$'000 HK$ 000

FET FHET

Accounts payable JE T BR K 38,337 29,216
Accrued expenses JEEH R 2,522 2,460
Other payables H th & 15 ;K1 229 846
41,088 32,522

The average credit period on purchase is generally ranged
45 to 90 days.

The following is an aged analysis of accounts payable
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the
reporting period:

SRR O T 45 5 B 58— R F45E90
EO

BA#&iﬂ;ﬁiﬂﬁTfﬁéf S E P
MR BRE D ATIAT -

2024 2023

—ECoE —E-=4F

HK$’000 HK$ 000

FET FET

Within 90 days 90HIA 5,230 9,090
91-180 days 91-180H 5,231 9,090
181-360 days 181-360H 20,861 9,600
Over 360 days H#BiE360H 7,015 1,436
38,337 29,216

PEERITRIERAR AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

23. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 23. BRE
2024 2023
—ECNE —E-=4F
HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Sales deposits B & 1R < - 450
As at 1 January 2023, contract liabilities amounted to RZEBE-_=F—HA—HB &8 EA
HK$500,000. 500,000/% 7T °
Contract liabilities, that are not expected to be settled BHTEEAREEIIELERPANG
within the Group’s normal operating cycle, are classified BENanat BEAEEREF,E
as current and non-current based on the Group’s earliest BEmIRBOKEETHIRARY
obligation to transfer goods or services to the customers. KIERBEE-
The following table shows how much of the revenue TRETECHERRGZTEZVEEE
recognised relates to carried-forward contract liabilities WanaEE/l B EBEHR
and how much relates to performance obligations that EERTHERNETE# -
were satisfied in prior periods.
2024 2023
—BonmEF —E=F
HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET TFET
At 1 January m—HA—H 450 500
Decrease in contract liabilities as a BRBGEERFAER
result of recognising revenue W 2 o
during the year (450) (500)
Increase in contract liabilities as BHBBEERFAYKE
a result of receiving sales FizR=F sk Pill
deposits during the year - 450
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H - 450
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24. SHARE CAPITAL

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ERER R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

24. %7

Number of

shares Share capital
KRB EE IR 2
HK$ 000
FET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.04 each & [%0.04%8 L8 & @ %
Authorised: EE
At 1 January 2023, RZEZ_=F—H—Q""
31 December 2023, and ZEZ=F+ZA=+—HEK
31 December 2024 2o F+=-A=+—H 12,500,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRHE:
At 1 January 2023, RZEZ=F—H—8-
31 December 2023 and “EC=F+-_A=t+—8Ek
31 December 2024 —E_ME+-_A=+—H 147,540,930 5,902
—TImEFH 139
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

25. RESERVES 25. f# 1

140

(i) Share premium (i) Bt =B
The share premium account represents the amount P& B BR e AR R k0T & P2 f+F
paid by shareholders for capital injection in excess of ML EEEN SR
its nominal value.

(i) Capital reserve (i) &AGEE

In 2009, the Company exercised a capital reduction
by reducing its share capital from HK$1,000,000,000
divided into 250,000,000 shares of HK$4.00 each
to HK$2,500,000 divided into 250,000,000 shares of
HK$0.01 each (the “Capital Reduction”]). The effect
arising from the Capital Reduction was transferred to
the capital reserve account and applied for payment of
distributions or dividends to shareholders.

(iii) Capital redemption reserve

(iv)

(v)

The capital redemption reserve represents the nominal
amount of the shares repurchased.

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC and
the respective articles of association of the group
companies, companies that are domiciled in the PRC
are required to allocate 10% of their profit after tax,
as determined in accordance with PRC GAAP, to the
statutory reserve until the reserve reaches 50% of
their respective registered capital. The transfer to
this reserve must be made before the distribution of a
dividend to shareholders.

Statutory reserve is non-distributable except in the
event of liquidation and, subject to certain restrictions
set out in the relevant PRC regulations, can be used to
offset accumulated losses or be capitalised as paid-up
capital.

Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policy set out
in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

REZZEZENF ARARHEHK
X E1,000,000,000 ¢ (9 A
250,000,000% & f%4.007%8 7T 2 B
)/ 2 £2,500,0008 7T (9 A
250,000,0000% & f%0.017%8 7t 2 B
) (TRRAHIR]) o B A B R &
SV EBREEAFERL A
HEED RSORERE FIE-

EAREO
AAREE EEEMEERNDOE
g

ET G
BEFEQAREREERRSH
B ZERMA o M bk AL R
FEANARZEEBREPHARE
&1 R Bl 8 TE B B 18 0m A1) A9 10%
AEEREBE BEEATRERRE
S REDFMEARMN0% A LE-
) 325 TE fo 18 A0 BB B A 7B A (R AR 3R
DR E 2 BIH#ETT ©

EERENA DR ERBRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

26. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

The Company adopted a share option scheme (“2013
Share Option Scheme”) on 31 December 2013, which was
approved by the Shareholders at the EGM held on the same
date. The 2013 Share Option Scheme was expired on 31
December 2023. No Share Option Scheme was granted
during the year.

The purpose of the 2013 Share Option Scheme is to enable
the Group to grant share options to eligible participants as
incentives or rewards for their contribution to the growth
of the Group and to provide the Group with a more flexible
means to reward, remunerate, compensate and/or provide
benefits to the eligible participants.

According the 2013 Share Option Scheme, the board of
directors may grant share options to eligible participants
as defined in the 2013 Share Option Scheme and the board
of directors has its sole discretion considers eligible
for the 2013 Share Option Scheme on the basis of their
contribution to the development and growth of the Group.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon the exercise of all share options to be granted under
the 2013 Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme(s) of the Company must not exceed 10% of the
issued share capital of the Company on the date of approval
and adoption of the 2013 Share Option Scheme provided
that the Company may at any time seek approval from the
Shareholders to refresh the limit to 10% of the shares
in issue as at the date of approval by the Shareholders
in general meeting where such limit is refreshed. Share
options previously granted under any share option schemes
of the Company (including those outstanding, cancelled,
lapsed in accordance with such schemes or exercised
options) will not be counted for the purpose of calculating
the limit as refreshed.

AR A

26. U MER 2 R 5

AARBR-_E—Z=ZF+_A=1+—
RN —IEERENE (22 —=F
A ERT )  ZBEREEENRE
HEITHRRERIRE DR R -
—E=FEREFENR T =F
+ZA=+—HEmR - FAMERD
B

_gfiiﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁ$gl
EHAAERZEERLBRIEER
ﬁvi$$@m9§¢ﬁﬂﬁm$@
o BRE) A (R AN SR B BE 59 AN T A i 2
BB mHER AR ER2 A
RS

RE-ZF-=-FBEREFE EF<T
ARaERZ2EE (EER-_F—=
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

26.

142

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS -
Continued

The total number of shares issued and may fall to be issued
upon exercise of the share options granted under the
2013 Share Option Scheme and any of other share option
scheme(s) of the Company (including exercised, cancelled
and outstanding options) to each eligible participant in
any 12-month period up to and including the date of grant
shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue as at the date
of grant unless such grant has been duly approved by
ordinary resolution of the Shareholders in general meeting
at which the relevant eligible participant and his associates
abstained from voting. Share options granted to substantial
Shareholders or Independent Non-executive Directors or
any of their respective associates in any 12-month period
in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s issued share capital on
the date of grant and with a value in excess of HK$5 million
must be approved in advance by the Shareholders.

Options granted must be taken up within 7 days from the
date of the offer upon payment of a nominal consideration
of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of
the share options granted is determinable by the board of
directors. There is no general requirement on the minimum
period for which option must be held before an option can
be exercised. All option shares must be exercised within 10
years from the date of grant of options.

The exercise price was determined by the board of
directors and will not be less than the higher of (i] the
closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of grant,
(i) the average closing price of the shares for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant;
and the (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s share.

In accordance with the terms of the 2013 Share Option
Scheme, the options granted vested at the date of grant.

At 31 December 2023, the number of shares in respect of
which options had been granted and remained outstanding
under the Scheme was 11,574,500, representing 13% of
the shares of the Company in issue at that date. At 31
December 2024, no share remained outstanding under the
Scheme.

The Group transferred HK$1,328,000 from share option

reserve to accumulated losses for the shares lapsed during
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$1,022,000).

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 2 = F ZF+=-A=+—HI FZ

26. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS -
Continued
During the year ended 31 December 2023, no share options
were granted under the 2013 Share Option Scheme. The
movements of number of share options under the Share
Option Scheme during the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023 are as follows:

Number of share options

26. Lxﬂxfﬁz% AN

R —

F@E_“_:¢+_HE+—E¢
FRBMERE T - =—FEREN
ARLBERE-BHE_T_MER_

T =+ _A=1T—HULEFE B
PRt EIE T RBRERE 2 ZEFHT

BREZE
Exercise
Outstanding at Lapsed Outstanding at Lapsed Outstanding at price of Fair value
Category of 1 January during 31 December during 31 December Exercisable period of share options* per option at
participant 2023 the year 2023 the year 2024 share options (restated) grant date
R-B-=% R-Z-mE
R-BZ=F +=A +=A B SHBRE
—A—8 =+-—8 =+-—8 TEE* RREBHH
SERERR 1 RATEE FRERK 1 RATE FRERK HMARTE  BRETEDR (RRE5) ARE
Director 1,157,450 - 1,157,450 (1,157,450) - 11 April 2022 to 10 April 2024 0.3272 0.0297
s T _FWA+—HZE
“E-_mFEMA+HE
Employee 7,716,400 (7,716,400) - - - 9 April 2021 to 8 April 2023 0.3280 0.0331
(=} ZE-—FMANBEE
—TZ=FMANR
Employee 10,417,050 - 10,417,050  (10,417,050) - 11 April 2022 to 10 April 2024 0.3280 0.3272
BB T _FWA+—HZE
“Z-_mFEmMA+HE
19,290,900 (7,716,400) 11,574,500  (11,574,500) -
*  The exercise price of the share options is subject to L HETROEHHBAT BREZ

adjustment in the case of consolidation of the shares

PEE SRR IRE
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26.

144

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS -
Continued

These fair values were calculated using the Binomial
model. The inputs into the model were as follows:

26%&%%%WZH%X
& AAERAZAANRAGFES L -
ZEA B AELT

Share options Share options

granted on granted on

11 April 2022 9 April 2021

R-ZZZZ%F R-ZZ=-%

A+—8 mARA

R R R e

Grant date share price R BHRE HK$0.0827 7 HK$0.0828 7T
Estimated fair value of a share option at grant date BHERENLBHEOEHRAAE HK$1,328,000i8 7t  HK$1,277,00058 7t
Exercise price (before share consolidation) 1718 (BRin & BHAD) HK$0.08187% 7t HK$0.0827 1t
Expected volatility EHRE 73.11% 101.79%
Expected life BHER 2 years 2 2 years 2
Expected dividend yield BB RE - -
Risk-free interest rate el RS 1.40% 0.138%

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical
volatility of the Company’s share price over the past
one year. The expected life used in the model has been
adjusted, based on the directors’ best estimate, for the
effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and
behavioural considerations.

The Group recognised the total expense of approximately

HK$Nil for the year ended 31 December 2023 in relation to
share options granted by the Company.

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited

BEHRBRBEE —FHARAKE
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

Retirement benefits are paid by Hong Kong subsidiary
to its employees who contribute to certain retirement
benefits plans managed by relevant independent trustees/
government authorities. The retirement benefits paid
by the Hong Kong subsidiaries are based on a certain
percentage of its employees’ relevant income in accordance
with the relevant regulations and are charged to profit or
loss as incurred. The subsidiaries discharged its required
contribution obligations upon payment of the retirement
benefits to its designated trustees/government authorities.

During the year, the Group made retirement benefits
scheme contributions totaling approximately HK$40,000
(2023: HK$47,000) (notes 11 and 12). At the end of the
reporting period, there are no forfeited contributions.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities
in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to stakeholders. In view of
the current cash position of the Group, the directors do
not intend to rely on external financing. The Group had no
external borrowings as at 31 December 2024 and 2023. The
Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from the prior
years.

The Group’s primary objective when managing capital is
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and maximising the return to stakeholders.
The Group's capital structure is regularly reviewed and
managed by the directors. The Group is not subject to
externally imposed capital requirements. To maintain or
adjust capital structure, the Group may adjust dividend
payment to shareholders or issue of new shares or
repurchase of existing shares as well as issue of new debt
or repurchase of existing debts. Adjustments will be made
to the capital structure in light of changes in economic
conditions affecting the Company or its subsidiaries, and
the risk characteristics of the Group’s underlying assets.
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior
years.

AR A

27.

28.

BAREF R &l

BB 2 R (12 B G B8 L A
A/ BUTE RS2 2 R R EF 5 818
[E B ATRIREF] - BB B D A X
5 2 BB R T AR 7 R AR 01 4% HL R
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BB RBESRAING B2 AR
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

146

(a)

(b)

Categories of financial instruments

29. TR T A

(a) & @& T EE5

2024 2023
—EF 2=
HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET FE T
Financial assets EMEE
Mandatorily measured at FVTPL: BHIE AR EFABRZS:
Financial assets at FVTPL BEAn B ABSZeRMERE 11,616 12,565
Amortised cost 8H A AN 49,161 66,988
Financial liabilities ot =K
Amortised cost 5 AR 38,566 30,062

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
accounts and other receivables, loan receivables, bank
balances, financial assets at FVTPL, accounts and
other payables. Details of the financial instruments
for the Group is disclosed in respective notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

The risks associated with these financial instruments
include credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk
(foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and other
price risk]. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner. There has been no change to the types of the
Group’s exposure in respect of financial instruments
or the manner in which it manages and measures the
risks.

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited

(b) M5 EREERE MEREK

AEBZTIZSRIABRREREK
BRI L FE MR IR - FRIRE R
RITHEB RAABEFABRREZ
TRMEE BNEREEMEN
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HzEFem T AABZARERE
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R\ B (845 51 EE L B - A R L B
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Continued

29. R T A

II"-.R
For the year ended 31 December 2024 #%Z —F —pIF+ = H=

BB WwRME

T—HIFFE

=|=
|:|:|:|
W=

(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) ﬁﬁkﬂ e TR e MR —
policies - Continued =
Market risk /77 % B e
(i) Currency risk (i) HIBE E B
The Group’s business transaction, assets and AEBEBRSG BEEME
liabilities are denominated in RMB and USD and EAARB RETEE M
the functional currency of the Group is HK$. AEBZEEEK BB
Considering the fact that most of the Group's ZRIBREETTENHEE
transactions are denominated in its functional N REZEAEBRTHUE
currency except for sales denominated in US$, the e B EE N B RT&A
Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk arises EZINER R B ETEE
from sales denominated in US$. BHE o
The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign RmEBRR REBEUINE
currency denominated monetary assets and AENEKEERERARE
monetary liabilities at the end of the reporting ZEREMEWNT
period are as follows:
Liabilities Assets
=R BE
2024 2023 2024 2023
—EBEomFE T ZEBEIWRF —_T_=fF
HK$’000 HK$ 000 HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FrET FET FET
RMB AR 236 860 12 396
Sensitivity analysis BREE DT
Since HK$ is pegged to US$, there is no MR BT EETTE N WA
significant exposure expected on US$ transactions HEKHHHENERZ
and balances whilst the currency peg remains in K-ETRXHRERTGE
place. DN
AR AT “ETUFFHR 147
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Continued 29. e T A4
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policies - Continued

(i)

Market risk - Continued

Currency risk - Continued

(ii)

Sensitivity analysis - Continued

The sensitivity analysis below has been
determined based on the exposure to a 5%
(2023: 5%) increase and decrease in HK$
against RMB: 5% is the sensitivity rate used
when reporting foreign currency risk internally
to key management personnel and represents
management’'s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
amounts of PRC subsidiaries’ HK$ denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation at
the end of reporting period for a 5% change in
foreign currency rates. For a 5% strengthening of
HK$ against RMB, the post-tax loss for the year
ended 31 December 2024 would be decreased by
approximately HK$9,000 (2023: HK$19,000). For
a 5% weakening of the HK$ against RMB, there
would be an equal and opposite impact on the
profit and other comprehensive income.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate
risk in relation to fixed-rate loan receivables [see
note 19 for details). The Group is also exposed to
cash flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-
rate bank balances (see note 21 for details).
The Group cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of interest rates
on bank balances. The Group manages its interest
rate exposures by assessing the potential impact
arising from any interest rate movements based
on interest rate level and outlook.

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Continued
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies - Continued

Market risk - Continued

PEE SRR IRE

(ii)

Interest rate risk - Continued

(iii)

Total interest income from financial assets that
are measured at amortised cost is as follows:

29. R T A
(b)

(ii)

M‘kﬂ

=|=
|:|:|:|
W=

VERRE R -

W%ﬂ%—ﬁ

A R B — 48

RRERAG BN BEE
B B I A B T -

2024 2023
—E-NEF e
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FETT FET
Interest revenue B WA
Financial assets at amortised cost XSk ANt & 2
TREE 880 989
Other income E Uz A
Financial assets at amortised cost  1Z# 5k Nzt & 2
TR EE - 36
No sensitivity analysis is presented as the HMRERERRTEBRITHE

management consider that the exposure of cash
flow interest rate risk arising from variable-rate
bank balances is insignificant.

The Group does not hold any collateral or other

credit enhancements to cover its credit risks
associated with its financial assets.

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through
its investments in equity securities measured at
FVTPL. The management manages this exposure
by maintaining a portfolio of investments with
different risks. The Group's equity price risk is
mainly concentrated on equity instruments quoted
in the Stock Exchange.

AR A

(iii)

BEAHREREFEER
NEE PSS
A

ZNE QLIRSS R RE R OE
S H A E E IR R M AR R
HEPRMEEMEBNEER

Gn o
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Continued 29. S_EK‘—}T\IE—_“E

(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) MBERERERE RKE

150

policies - Continued

Market risk - Continued

(iii) Other price risk - Continued
The sensitivity analysis have been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risk at the
reporting date. A 5% increase or decrease is used
as it represents management’s assessment of the
possible change in price of equity securities.

If the prices of the respective equity securities
that are indexed to equity prices had been 5%
higher/lower, the Group’s post-tax loss for the
year ended 31 December 2024 would decrease/
increase by HK$485,000 (2023: HK$525,000) as
a result of the changes in fair value of equity
securities held for trading.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that Group' s
counterparties default on their contractual obligations
resulting in a financial loss to the Group. The Group’s
credit risk exposures are primarily attributable to
accounts and other receivables, loan receivables and
bank balances. The Group does not hold any collateral
or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks
associated with its financial assets.

The Group performed impairment assessment for
financial assets and other items under ECL model.
Information about the Group’s credit risk management,
maximum credit risk exposures and the related
impairment assessment, if applicable, are summarised
as below:

Accounts receivable arising from contracts with

=

75 JE [ — A
(i) EERRERR &

customers

Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses
an internal credit scoring system to assess the
potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit
limits by customer. Limits and scoring attributed to
customers are reviewed twice a year. Other monitoring
procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up action
is taken to recover overdue debts. In this regard, the
management considers that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited

BREESWENRREBH®E
RHRAERRKRETE- MH
B EF R TBE5% KR EE
BHRAFLFEBLITELE
L BERENTEE At T
LABEF ©

i) E2 A% 7 (B 1% # 69 B9 & R AR
BHERER EFA T 5%
AAEEHE-_ZT_NNF
+-_A=+—"BILFEAMK
BEBEERBEEERA
BENARBEEZH ML,
#IN485,0008 T (T ==
1 525,000/ 7T ) ©

1= B /a2 K Bl 18 AP 14
FERBRERASEHFHER
HENEEMERAEELIRY
?%Emﬂ%°$ﬁlmmfﬂ
22 57 (R 8 B % Ko A g
H&IEEMT X Mo SRITAE R
AEEWERFA TR RIE
EEIERERAREEE SR
BEMBNEERR-

AEBEREBERHUEEERRAY
A%ﬁﬁ%&ﬁi\@ﬁﬁt”ﬁﬁ?ﬁ
R-ERAKBEERRERE
RAEERR ﬁ]ﬁ(D&ffEFﬂﬂﬁ%
il (AE ) M E R an T

BEEBHEL Z EWIRK

RERERMHEPR AEEE
AABEERTY HEFEBEER
FREEER IBETFPHNIE
ERBE-HEFPHNRBLEIDE
E*’*Eﬁﬁ?ﬂ AEENEREM

EREFr o DAREOR 2R BUERGE £5 1
H&Z@tﬁﬁﬁﬁ* FLULT S - A&
MEEERR AKEZEER
2 KR RUE

ANNUAL REPORT 2024



PEE SRR IRE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Continued
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies - Continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment -
Continued

Accounts receivable arising from contracts with
customers - Continued

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 5%
(2023: 2%) of the total trade receivables was due from
the Group’s largest customer. In order to minimise
the credit risk, the management of the Group has
delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits and credit approvals.

In addition, the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model on accounts
receivable are grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics by reference to the Group’s aging of
outstanding balances. Impairment of HK$19,275,000
(2023: HK$15,060,000) is recognised during the year.
Details of the quantitative disclosures are set out
below in this note.

Loan receivables

The management makes periodic individual
assessment to estimate the estimated loss rates
of loan receivables based on historical credit loss
experience of the debtors. The management considers
all loan receivables as doubtful if the repayment of
principal and/or interest has been overdue for more
than 3 months. Impairment of HK$363,000 (2023:
reversed HK$163,000) is recognised during the year.

Bank balances

Credit risk on bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit agencies.
The Group assessed 12m ECL for bank balances by
reference to information relating to probability of
default and loss given default of the respective credit
rating grades published by external credit rating
agencies. Based on the average loss rates, the 12m
ECL on bank balances is considered to be insignificant
and therefore no loss allowance was recognised.

AR A

29. & T B —#&
(b) ﬁﬁﬂ P EIE TR e MR —

/,:E} B g R R E I — &

EPERESE 2 RIRR—

BN E 5 EYIERREPS% (=
ToF:2%)RERBAKRER
AREPHER B AEEBFERE
ERBRERBER SEEREKE
ERB AEEEEEDRIR—
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N AEBEREEHEEERE
B BRI T R E R
FEWEBR R T2 EAREEKRBW
EHRONERERBEEXREERR
BHETOE- EM&E&WE
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Continued
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies - Continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment -
Continued

Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits, the management
makes periodic individual assessment on the
recoverability of other receivables and deposits based
on historical settlement records, past experience,
and also quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information. The management believes that there are
no significant increase in credit risk of these amounts
since initial recognition and the Group provided
impairment based on lifetime ECL. Impairment
of HK$763,000 (2023: reversed HK$3,195,000) is
recognised during the year.

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

29. ¢ T AE—4&

ﬁ%ﬂ R ERETRE MBUR—
Efi@ﬂhﬁﬁﬂg%ﬂﬁ—ﬁg

Hih A R g

MEMERREBEBREEMS &
BEEREBFEELH BAELK
BUMAEBERSEMNAIEMETS
N B M & K T HR b e R
E&E%MTM@&LGM%?
B-BEERAE BYRERL
X ZERBENEER Iﬁ@
iﬁuﬂ$$lﬁf£%ﬁ%
EEBEBTIRBE - FRERR
E763,0008 0 (—F - = F : #&
[@3,195,000/% 7T ) °

REBH R EEE R R RR A
BREIA TR

Accounts receivable  Other financial assets

Internal credit rating Description

ABEETR RS

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and does
not have any past due amounts

e REUFENRRE BYEEMAHFE

Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but settle
in full

EREE BEBAZRRBBAREER BEHEHEE

Doubtful Amount is >30 days past due or there have been
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition through information development
internally or external resources

] & FUAE B E B30 A kA B A 15 o BB SRR A
EHET BUSRAUREERRDBELMN

Loss Amount is >90 days past due or there is evidence
indicating that the asset is credit-impaired

BB RECABBANARERBERAEECHBRER
AE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery

38 ﬁ EERREBARRBRERRRE HAKEKD

I/E\E’]Xﬁi/ﬁ//t

152 Sino Splendid Holdings Limited

FE WL AR X HthemEE
Lifetime ECL-not 12m ECL
credit impaired
2HBEHEEEE 12@ABHEEEAR
-BEERE
Lifetime ECL-not 12m ECL

credit impaired
THESEERR
- BEERE

Lifetime ECL-not
credit impaired

2HBRAEERR
—BEERE

Lifetime ECL-credit
impaired
1%%%F&EE
-EERE

Amount is written off

FUED M

REARBEEBR

Lifetime ECL- not
credit impaired

2HBRHEEER
~EEERE
Lifetime ECL-credit
impaired
2HRMEERR
—ZEHE

Amount is written off

REC M
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Continued 29. R T H—4&
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) ABERERRE KK —
policies - Continued =
Credit risk and impairment assessment - 15 B b KA (BT — A&
Continued
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of TRANAREERETTE Hﬂﬂ: i
the Group's financial assets, which are subject to ECL BEILNEREENGEE
assessment: a5 -
2024 2023
External creditinternal credit Gross carrying Gross carrying
Note  rating rating 12m or lifetime ECL amount amount
g1 22 it g2
Wz SHBEEFR ABEETR 12EAR2HENEERR BREE EEEE
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$000  HKS 000
fEx  FExL  TEr  TET
Financial assets at amortised
cost
REHRATENEREE
Loan receivables 79 N/A Doubtful Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 11,000 11,000
EWER Tam g PHEHNEEER (REERE)
Bank balances 21 Aal-A3 N/A 12m ECL 6,868 19.913
RITHER ha1ZAY TEE NEREHEERE
Other receivables and deposits 20 N/A [note 1] 12m ECL - 5,892
HiEKHERES Tam (Hrzt1) 2EARREEER
Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 1,654 1,654 - 5,892
PHEREEER (REERE)
Accounts receivable 20 N/A [note 2 Lifetime ECL (collective 107,075 89,243
- contracts with customers assessment)
EWET-TPaN TR (Hi:£2) PHEREEESE (£RT0)
AR AT “ETNFEFHR 153
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Continued

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies - Continued
Credit risk and impairment assessment -

154

&=
mE

the Group uses past due information to assess whether
credit risk has increased significantly since initial

29. ¢ T AE—4&
(b) B ERERRE KKK~

1= B a8 R p B 10— &

RAMBEERRERTS A&
EERBEENNUTEHEEER
b B )00 HE TR DA 2R 2 A K 8 15

Continued
Notes: Wizt
For the purposes of internal credit risk management, e

recognition. e
2024 —E—me
Not past
due/No fixed
repayment
Past due terms Total
K@
EmEEE
2 8 8 K et
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET FET
Other receivables and deposits H g ka8 ik & 1,654 - 1,654
2023 T
Not past
due/No fixed
repayment
Past due terms Total
2 58 HA TEE R 4BET
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET
Other receivables and deposits H W R IE iR - 5,892 5,892
For accounts receivable, the Group has applied the 2. BEWRERmME ASEERE

simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss
allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors with
significant outstanding balances or credit-impaired, the
Group determines the ECL on these items on a collective
basis, grouped by past due status. The information
about the credit risk exposure on the Group’s accounts

receivable is set out below.

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited

BB EERESR PO
HEFEEMEREREERN
EIRBE - FR R BRBRE R
HREERERN BRI B
fib UL I B R @ AR D 4 - X
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Continued
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

PEE SRR IRE

policies - Continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment -
Continued

As part of the Group’'s credit risk management, the
Group uses debtors’ aging to assess the impairment
for its customers because these customers consist
of a large number of small customers with common
risk characteristics that are representative of the
customers’ abilities to pay all amounts due in
accordance with the contractual terms. The following
table provides information about the exposure to credit
risk for accounts receivable which are assessed on
a collective basis as at December 31, 2024 and 2023

29. @t T A —! f%-i

(b)

#ﬁﬂ g MR

Egﬁﬂ B E I — &

ERARBEERREEN —
o AEBEHEEFEREK
RO EREFHERE RAESK
SEEFPHBEERZNNER
PR AEAIRBREFREA
MR P B 2 HARIR 2 B8
MHBRER S TREHEZH

ﬁ%ﬁf%ﬁ(ﬂéﬁﬂﬁﬂh
LA 55 88 & E TF (il 10 JB WK R X

—ECNFERE_=ZF+= ﬂ

within lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired). =t+—ANEERBER -
2024 2023
ol 12 —ECCfF
Gross Gross
Average carrying  Allowance Average carrying  Allowance
loss rate amount amount loss rate amount amount
TYUEBEE AREE BESE TUEEX 4REE  EEed
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
TER TR FHET FHET
Low risk [lweged 2% 6,410 113 1% 9,150 129
Normal risk ERER 15% 30,950 4,520 15% 25,721 3,890
High risk =E R 100% 69,715 69,715 100% 54,372 54,372
107,075 74,348 89,243 58,391

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on
historical observed default rates over the expected
life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-
looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure relevant information about
specific debtors is updated.

AR A

BEHEBRXTDIRBER AR F
HNBTERMEMNEORG
AU EFTNLBERALS
BN R] 45 B A BE 1 & RHE H 5
E-BEEEEHRIOMABR
NHERE AR EEH AN
AR -

=R T PIE oY



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Continued

156

policies - Continued

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

Credit risk and impairment assessment -

29. ¢ T AE—4&

(b) ABERERRE MIKE—
V=]

Ilﬁ
1= B a8 R p B 10— &

Continued
The following table shows the movement in lifetime TRINTIRERE S 7 A YR
ECL that has been recognised for accounts receivable HNEANZHEREEERES
under the simplified approach. 8-
Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
Non-credit- Credit-
impaired impaired Total
2HEH 2HEH
FEBR- FEBER-
EEEHE EERE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET
As at 1 January 2023 RZE-=%—F—H 43,330 - 43,330
Changes due to financial instruments ~ RZTZ=F—A—HER
recognised as at 1 January 2023: SMIAEERNE
- Impairment losses recognised —EHRREER 11,042 - 11,042
New financial assets REREENTCRAE
originated or purchased 4,019 - 4,019
As at 31 December 2023 R-Z_=F
+tZRA=+—H 58,391 - 58,391
Changes due to financial instruments ~ RZTZMF— A —HER
recognised as at 1 January 2024: CMIEEANEE:
- Transfer to credit impaired ~EEEERE (3,318) 3,318 -
- Impairment losses recognised —BERARMEEE 14,642 - 14,642
- Write-offs — - (3,318) (3,318)
New financial assets RESBENHERMEE
originated or purchased 4,633 - 4,633
As at 31 December 2024 RZZE_MF
—A=+-8 74,348 - 74,348
Sino Splendid Holdings Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Continued
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies - Continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment -

Continued

The following tables show reconciliation of loss
allowances that has been recognised for loan

receivables:

29. T A
[b] /ﬁjﬁ%ﬂ /\/\ TEI&EK
V=]

=

o=l

=
1= B E R KRB 0 — &

TRINRESEWERER 2B
BB ZHEK:

Lifetime ECL
(not credit
impaired)
A
FEBE
(BEERE)
HK$'000
TFET
At 1 January 2023 MRZZEZ=%—H—H 1,269
Changes due to financial instruments RZE_=F—HA—H
recognised as at 1 January 2023: WREMITASI B CEH:
- Impairment losses reversed —EREREER (163)
At 31 December 2023 R-B-=#%
+=ZH=+—H 1,106
Changes due to financial instruments RZZFEZWFE—H—H
recognised as at 1 January 2024: WREm T A3z EE:
- Impairment losses recognised —EERREESE 363
At 31 December 2024 R-Z-NMF
+=A=+—8 1,469

PEEFRRRERBRA

=R TP E g o7



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Continued
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies - Continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment -
Continued

==

29. T HE—&
(b) ﬁﬂ‘“ﬂ RE 7

BRE MBUR

/EEH % KB (B RV 1 — A

The following tables show reconciliation of loss T &RIRE B IR S K& E th & YK
allowances that has been recognised for deposits and HERNEEEEYER:
other receivables:
Lifetime ECL -
12-month Non-credit-
ECL impaired Total
24
128 F#HEEER
BHEEFR (BEEHE) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
As at 1 January 2023 RZZEZ=F—-HF—H 4,086 - 4,086
Changes due to financial instruments R Z-_ZE-_=F—H—H
recognised as at 1 January 2023: EReMI A c&8):
- Impairment losses reversed —BREREEE (3,195) - (3,195)
As at 31 December 2023 RZZEZ=F
+ZA=+—~H 891 - 891
Changes due to financial instruments ~ RZZ =M —F—H
recognised as at 1 January 2024: MRS IAS|IH &
- Transfer to lifetime ECL —BERERFIHEHEE
BB (820) 820 -
- Impairment losses recognised —BEBRAMEER - 834 834
- Impairment losses reversed —BEERERE (71) - (71)
As at 31 December 2024 N-ZE-NE
+=-A=+—H - 1,654 1,654
Ligquidity risk HEE /A
Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management E%E‘Jﬂuuﬁbﬁiﬂ fa B IR AR &R
rests with the directors, which has built an appropriate BRER - RERAEBRZEH.

liquidity risk management framework for the
management of the Group’s short, medium and long-
term funding and liquidity management requirements.
The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining
adequate bank balances and cash and continuously
monitoring forecast and actual cash flows.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The
table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted
cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest
date on which the Group can be required to pay. The
maturity dates for financial liabilities are based on the

agreed repayment dates.

158  Sino Splendid Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Continued

29. ¢ T A4

(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) ﬁﬁkﬂ e TR e MR —
policies - Continued
Liquidity risk - Continued JE fﬁéf;& 2 [ — &
Weighted Total
average Within contractual
effective 1year or undiscounted Carrying
interest rate on demand cash flow amount
ERREE
EE R—FR BEenmE
BRAE RERER BE HREE
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET
As at 31 December 2024 R-E-NE+=A=+—H
Accounts and other payables e R R AN A - 38,566 38,566 38,566
As at 31 December 2023 E’\:;::Eﬂ‘*ﬁ*ﬂ‘ =
Accounts and other payables ENER R EMENT - 30,062 30,062 30,062

(c]

B FR IR %

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments

Some of the Group's financial instruments are
measured at fair value for financial reporting
purposes. The directors of the Company have set up a
valuation committee, which is headed up by the Chief
Financial Officer of the Company, to determine the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair
value measurements.

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-
observable data to the extent it is available.

AR A

(c]

TRMIAZARENE

MM BHREM S - $%%:Ffi>
MTADNRAABEFE- AR
EEDR :ZEEIK’&T%fHMWE
BENHEZEG UETAAR
Bt E A ERM N A BE -

RIEF AR ER REBFZA R
AR BEMSEIE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Continued

(c) Fair value measurements of financial
instruments - Continued

29. il’T‘]T\IE——,E
(c) EMIT A ARBFNE—E

li] Fair value of the Group's financial assets i] BEMEELLETEZ
and financial liabilities that are measured FEFGHEERTH
at fair value on a recurring basis BEZATE
Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial rEBEETEREERSHM
liabilities are measured at fair value at the end BEREBRERRERARLE
of each reporting period. The following table AE-TRHIBEELZETS
gives information about how the fair values of HREENERBBEZAR

these financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined (in particular, the valuation

e B E B B # (Bl =2 P
18 B 5 B Bl bt A2

technique(s) and inputs used]. ®) e
Level 1 Total
F—® st
2024 2023 2024 2023
—BEoME —To=F ZBDAFE _—T-=F
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
FHET FET FHET FHET
Financial assets at FVTPL: #&Z2Q 7R TEnJr)\TEﬁnZ
- Listed securities held —FHEEEZ FTE
for trading % 11,616 12,565 11,616 12,565
All of the Group's fair value measurement were REBRE R EFHERR
remeasured at the end of the reporting period. EHREHAE
Fair value at Fair value at
31 December 31 December  Fair value Valuation techniques

Financial assets 2024 2023  hierarchy and key input
R-B-mE R-_T-=F
t=A +—H
=t—-Hx =+—-Rz ARE HERWK
TREE ARE DRME R BeEHARE
HK$’'000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Listed equity securities 11,616 12,565 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in
in Hong Kong an active market
BB LTRAES E—H EBRMHIWE
There were no transfers of financial instruments BRE_ZT_MER_FT_=
between levels in the hierarchy for the both years F+-_A=+—H Jtliﬁflg
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. E-&FERzETESHT
B@E® o
Sino Splendid Holdings Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ERER R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

31.

Other than the remuneration paid to the directors and
employees of the Group as set out in note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements, who are considered as
the key management personnel of the Group, the Group
did not have any other significant compensations to key
management personnel. The remuneration of directors
and key executives is determined by the remuneration
committee having regard to the performance of individuals
and market trends.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY

Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by
the Company at the end of the reporting period are set out
below.

30. BHEE T X

31.

iR e MR MRM 12 S TR
SEESMEER (REWRAASAEHE
MEBEBRABINFMIN NEME
TEATBEEABIMNERNEME
REM-EFRETBITHAE ZH B
THRFMZEEREERBEARR LT
LBBRETE -

AN EBHE AR

ARARBERREELBAEFELZ
BB BEE#RINNAT -

Place of Proportion of ownership interest and
incorporation/ voting power held by the Company
registration and Paid up issued/ ARAZEREZRRZELH
Name of subsidiaries operations registered capital Directly Indirectly Principal activities
EMAL/ BRERT/
WELR AR ARREELE EMER B B TEEH
2024 2023 2024 2023
“E-ME —T--F ZBIQE —Z-=F
TTG Global Limited Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares 100% 100% - - Investment holdings
BRBEEREERAR 7 1008 & @M RERR
Netplus Media Limited Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares - - 100% 100% Provision of advertising
agency service
ERBEARLT i 1005 % &} RIRERRRS
Sino Impact Group Limited ~ British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of 100% 100% - - Investment in securities
US$1 each
Sino Impact Group Limited £BRZHES REREEIETL BEHRE
LRk
Aolin Jingi Kongjian PRC Paid up capital - - 100% 100% Virtual reality business
[Shenzhen) Jishu Co., HK$10,000,000
Ltd.*
"mmER ORI e £ 2R 710,000,000 7T ERABER
RiER A
Nation Wealth Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share - - 100% 100% Money lending
Nation Wealth Limited Bk 1REBR &

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which,
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
affected the results or assets of the Group. To give details
of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors
of the Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at
the end of the year.

* The English name is for identification purpose only.

PEERITRIERAR AR

EREINARBEERR/YAREE
BREEBNEIEXEZASENE
NA AR BEFR A HE A
RAZHBHEEREAN TR -

REFEREENB AR ETEMNER
%\/0

* ORNARERB -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —F — [+ - A=+ —HIFFZ

32. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 32. M5 HTE =18
Subsequent to 31 December 2024, Aolin Jingi Kongjian RZE_MOFEF+—A=1+—H% &
(Shenzhen) Jishu Co., Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of RNAlZ2EWBAREMBERZER OF
the Company, has been deregistered in 8 February 2025. INBEMERARERTE_AF=
ANBFREHEER-
33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 3. RNARFIMBMRRT LEE
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
(a) Statement of Financial position of the Company (a) &2 BRI FBEAMRE
2024 2023
—E-MEF T
HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Non-Current Asset ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RB AR ZERE - -
Current Asset REBEE
Cash and bank balances Be MIBITHES 6,633 -
Current Liabilities REAE
Accounts and other payables JFE A< Bl 3K B E b JE 5 FRTB 1,613 2,295
Amount due to subsidiaries AN NGIE ] 14,293 3,059
15,906 5,354
Net Liabilities FEE (9,273) (5,354)
Capital and Deficits % 7S % fE5 A
Share capital fi% Z< 5,902 5,902
Reserves and accumulated losses BN EFTEE (15,175) (11,256)
Total Deficits & A4 EE (9,273) (5,354)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #%Z —F —pIF+ = H=

33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY - Continued

IIV-F

BB WwRME

T—HIFFE

33. AR R BA AR S 3R I et 8 —

==
(=]

25
(b) Movement in the company reserves and (b) RAGIFERRAEBEELH
accumulated losses
Share Capital
Share option Capital redemption Accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total
BROGEE BRERE BXFE EFERRE ZRHEB @i
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FHET FET FHET FET FET FHET
At 1 January 2023 “Z-=%—-R—H 89,449 2,350 755 11,690 (111,980) (7,736
Lapsed of equity-settled Hxﬁ‘%ﬁﬁb{ﬂxf RERZ
share payment ESS - (1,022) - - 1,022 -
Loss and other comprehensive FAEERE M2 EHY
expenses for the year - - - - (3,520) (3,520
At 31 December 2023 SECEETSAST-B 8940 1,328 755 11690 (114478)  (11,256)
Lapsed of equity-settled Hxﬁ‘?ﬁuﬂxf BEBZ
share payment EES - (1,328) - - 1,328 -
Loss and other comprehensive FAEERE M2 EHY
expenses for the year - - - - (3,919) (3,919)
At 31 December 2024 R-E-_ME+-A=+—-H 89,449 - 755 11,690 (117,069) (15,175)

34. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures of the consolidated financial
statements were reclassified to conform with the current

year's presentation.

PEE SRR IRE

AR A

34. L BT

—ZT PUFFIR

REMBHRENETHLRHEFEEMN
D UARAEARFENZ25 A -
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

LR Y

RESULTS E
Year ended 31 December
BEZ+-A=1+—-HLEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
“E-mE Z—Z=-=F ZEZ=f ZT=Z—F ZIZ=TF
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FEr FET FET FEr
Revenue BEH 29,431 45,274 62,955 54,866 38,870
Loss for the year UTATEEFE
attributable to: EE:
Owners of the Company VN/NEIEEZ =N (24,195) (49,071) (43,023) (22,130) (23,597)
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR - - - - -
(24,195) (49,071) (43,023) (22,130) (23,597)
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING BE BEMEERER
INTERESTS
At 31 December
R+=ZA=+—-H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
ZE-WME _—T-_=f _—T__ —E--F ZTZEHF
HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET FET FET
Assets BE 65,961 85,099 110,423 154,684 202,950
Liabilities afs (41,173) (33,515) (7,618) (20,137) (46,340)
Non-controlling interests SRR M = - - (2,029) (2,029) (2,029)
24,788 51,584 100,776 132,518 154,581
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